a warden on the police force was assaulted. This particular beating
was the result of a friction between Morimoto and the inhabitants
of his block, 54, and considering the temper of the people and
the steps taken by the Administration was almost inevitable.

This beating was far more widely discussed than that of Hitomi's
brother and considerable data are avallable, but the information
is confused and fragmentary. Moreover, the beating was tied in
with the difficulties of the Japanese Language School and with
the young men's groups who were sponsoring morning exercises in
the Japanese style in the blocks. Making allowances for the
incomplete information the story may be told as follows:

Since the November incident, the residents of block 54 had
been notorious for the strength of their political views. The
block, according to it's manager, a frank informant, was split
about half and half, and each section was vociferous and militant.
Morlmoto a warden and another man residing in the block were

strong antl-status quo and pro-Administration in their sympathies.

Pro-Japanese block residents accused them of constant carping

eriticism and of threatening to report activities of which they
disapproved to the Administration, Ewven if most of this is dis-
counted, it would appear that the two men were both domineering
tactless. Resentment increased when Morimoto's children got into
difficulties with the Japanese Language School in their ward.
Some informants say that Morimoto's children were impudent.
Another version, to which there appears to be more basis, holds
that the Japanese Language schools expressed disapproval of their
puplls attending motlon pictures on school evenings and that

lMorimoto, in spite of the hostile sentiment in his block, allowed




hls children to attend the movies. There are vague stories of
threats made against the children and petty violences, such as
bottle throwing., It 1s sald that the children were expelled
from the ward school whereupon Morimoto made an unsuccessful
attempt to enroll them in the adjoining ward.

friend

The friction came to a head when Morimoto and his/criticized
the goinen-dan in hls ward for their sponsorship of the morning
exerclses, threatening the parents of children participating in
these exercises and accusing them of bringing the wrath of the
army down upon the block. ‘Yhereupon, a group of young men,
seinen-dan members, called upon the two men and remonstrated with
them. 7The conversation 1s described by mre. "Q", who is entirely
hostile to Morimoto.

"So the boys went to see them and tried tu make them see
the thing thelr way. 'If you are real Japanese,' they sald, 'You
would co-operate with us.' The boys heard one of the men say,
'laybe I'm not Japanese.'":

The argument grew more heated and eventually culminated in
the boys' locking one of the men in the block ironing room while
the other ran to call the police. At ﬁhia time no arrests were
mnade. However, the pro-Japanese block residents decided that
matters had gone far enough and petitioned the administration to
remove the two men and their families from the block. The

It 1s also gaid that residents petitioned
administration refused to consider this request. /Mr. Shimokon,
evacuee chief of police, to remove Morimoto from the police force.
No attention was given to this attempt at pressure either. At
thle stage in the development of the trouble, the following

attitudes were expressed:
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In addition to the statement quoted above, Mrs. "Q" said,

"Those two men were against everything that was done in the
block. They had what they called a Young Men's Club (seinen-dan).
They had radio exerclises in the morning. These men threatened
the parents of the boys who attended these exercises that the
Army will come and stop them. 'They'll kick you for doing this,!
they sald."”

Mrs. "Q"'s husband added:

"That was only one of the things these men did. Previous
to thls, they annoyed the bloeck by thelr actions again and again,
This Young Men's CGroup was the first to stand up to them, « . «

"One of the men is a policeman, He called the Internal
Security and told them to arrest tEe boye. But they didn't arrest
them because there was no reason,"

The "0"'s, very conservative people, showed similar sympa-

thies when they were asked about the incident, The following
statements are particularly interesting since they show the
attitude of two gentle minded people who disapproved of the
violent acts perpetrated by the Daihyo Sha Kal in November. It
should be mentioned, however, that criticlism of the morning
exerclises, particularly on the part of old Tule Lake nisei is
fairly general. The commonest complaint is, "They wake us up
in the morning."

"The issei (like the two men in block 54) are really hard

minded. They're stubborn. It's hard for the old folks and the
young folks to get along.

"We used to have morning exercises too. But they stopped
it. I Dbelleve Manzanar is still having them. They are not
mllitaristioc exercises. I think the wardens are just afraid of
public gatherings. There were one or two teachers arrested while
they were having the exercises in school., I think that's why
they have been stopped here (block 59)., The block people didn't
want any more vioctims,"

Mys, "O" added:

"It was the little children who just loved the exercises,
They had a lot of fun getting up in the morning. He (her husband)

Ilbid-’ May 20' Ple 3"40




was too lafy to get up. For the children it wss tanoshimi
(H treat).

A few days after the Okamoto shooting, the writer heard
that about a dozen men had been arrested in block 54 and placed
in the stockade. A Caucasian member of the police force, remarked
in the writer's presence that the police were not going to give
way to pressure and that they felt capable of protecting indivi-
duals in camp who were threatened by trouble-mskere,

Due to the extreme secrecy maintained by the police (even

Lr. Opler was unable to pry much information from them), the

unsettled state of the camp, and the fact that it was impossible

to vislt any informant in block 54 after this arrest had been
made, no additional information could be obtained. In the excite-
ment which followed the Okamoto shooting, nothing was heard from
the block, YThen, a few days after the beating of Hitomi's brother,

on June 13 at 11:30

-

D.m,, the writer encountered Mr, Schmidt, the
head of the police. 1In a trembling voice, Mr, Schmidt told the
writer that Morimoto had been beaten up. He was on his way to
block 54 to investigate. Morimoto is said to have suffered a
fractured skull. His assallants were never found.

On the day following the Morimoto the writer gquestioned "U"
on the wave of hostility toward the imu and the beatings, Mr, "U",
an ex=-Santa Fe internee and a Stanford graduate, is one of the
best educated issei in Tule Laske. The writer asked him outright
if he thought any innocent people were being attacked. When the
Morimoto béating was mentioned, "U"'s wife a delicate woman with
exquisite manners and genuins kindliness remarked in a tone of

humorous disappointment, "He wasn't killed though, was he?"
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Mr. "U" ignored this interruption and gave his considered
opinion:

"T'his 1is only my feeling on the matter. Knowing the Japanese
as a race, knowing them for their courtesy and thelr good behavior,

I say that 1f anyone 1s beaten there should be a certaln fundamental
reason for 1it,

"I hate to see any Japanese beaten by our countrymen., ‘lhe
fundamental reason for such beatings might be caused by the way
thie camp 1s governed.

"1f 1 were head of this camp, I would realize the condition
and the attitudes of the people. I would order something to be
done and as long as I was convinced that such an order was benefl-
clial for the residents, I would stick to it, MNr. Best 1s trying
to make the camp peaceful by trying to make the Japanese peoEle
change from being loyal to Japan to being loyal to Americas."

This statement 1s not only interesting because of its defense
of the beatings but because 1t betrays what may be one of the
important psychological factors responsible for the exaggerated
hatred of the inu and the fence sitters: the unadmitted fear
that the presence of the people not willing to express loyalty to
Japan, coupled with resentment of adminlstrative pressure on
those who had committed themgelves to Japan to change their minds,
constituted an ever-present threat and temptation to the pro-Japa-
nese element - a threat and temptatlion which must be removed
because they themselves were not completely convinced of thelr
abi1lity to stick to thelr decision to be loyal to Japan.

On June 17, "K" expressed himself on the beatings as follows:

"The beatings can be looked at from various angles. The
Japanese have grievances aguinst the Administration, but they
know as a fact that they're helpless. Naturally, the only thing
they can think of is how to get back at those who spy on them,

I think these beatings will keep going for quite a vwhile. I
think there wlll be at least a half a dozen more. The Administma -

tion listens to the sples and not to the others. 8o such things
will happen. s S
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"This ia one point you no doubt have noticed. These certain
persons hare boasin up, you'll find the majority of the people
are enjoying 1t,

"K"'s last statement was entirely true.

On June 19, Henry Shiohama, the chief eye-witness of the
Okamoto shootling narrowly escaped a beating when it was rumored
that his testimony had been unfavorable to Okamoto, and had
contributed to the Coroner's Inquest verdict favoring the sentry.
"hile this beatinzg 4id not take place, the informant's story of
how a group of irate young men came to see her husband to disocuss

the matter with him and to decide whether the story told of the

young man were true and merlited a beating, is a significant hint

on the manner in which some of these beatings weore arranged.

The mamner in which beatings were arranged ig a difficult subject
on which to gain information., However, some very frank individuals
have admitted that there are at least three different methods. 1In
some cases an individual in a certaln block or ward became 80
unpopular that a group of his enemles coming upon him in a conve-
nient place spontaneously took advantage of the sltuation and beat
hinm up. In other inatances the beating may have been arranged

as in the case Just cited. A gang of young men met, discussed

the sltuation, and determined to teach someone they consider an
inu an unforgettable lesson. Other beatings were unmistakeably
planned with care and were probably engineered by older men who
atayed in the background. Such groups were capable of planning
and carrying out a series of beatings. One young man boasted to

the writer that he had personally englneered a dozen beatings in
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the relocation center from which he came., "K" emphasized the
importance of this latter method; stating that he knew it had
b een employed in Manzanar, He added:

"Some of them deserve it and some don't, Like Yamatani,
he should have been buried long ago. DBut some don't deserwve it "1

Mrs. F,, an older nisei woman did not approve of the beatings.
She wished "that the Japanese people could get along peacefully
together," She blamed gossip for the trouble, saying, "People
talk and say they're inus. The litoml beatlng was a miastake,
They mistook the man for hig brother."

Mrs, "1", a younger nisel woman, hated the "dogs" but was
worried about the beatings., On June 24 she sald:

"I heard that the man in block 35 (Hitomi's brother) can't
see. He was attacked after an bngel Xal meeting. Ille just came
out of the Santa e Internment camp and as soon as he got into

camp he was employed as manager at the Sewing Factory. His brother
is manager of the Co-op.

"1l think evgrybody is neirvous in here. This place gives
bt
me the willies,"

HOSTIIE [EMONSTRATION AT COMMENCEMENT

An interesting manifestation of the temper of the people
at this period took place when Mr. Black, head of Community
Management addreassed the graduating class, thelr parents and
friends, at the Commencemént Exerclses, An excellent Caucasian
informant related the incident. Mr., Black began his address by
stating that 1t was cuatomary to palnt the future in rosy colors
for a graduating classes, but that in the present circumstances
he did not feel justified in doing this. He touched on the dls-

turbed state of the warring world and then said, "You, perhaps,
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have your own opinions and without doubt your parents have
definite convictions, But I am an American, and as an American,
I can see the outcome of this war only as a complete military
victory for the Allied cause." As soon as these words had been
uttered, a surge of disapproving nolses rose from the audience.
Vhispers, moving feet, rattling progreams, made it 4difficult for
the remainder of the speech to be heard. MNuffled boos came from
unidentifiable parts of the rear of the auditorium where many
young men were seated or standing. The causasians present became
nervous and alarmed. Black continued, apparently unaffected:

"This does not mean that we wish for the annihilation of the

Japanese people. In order to take her place among the nations,

Japan needs leadership and there has never been an oversbundance
of leanders in any country of tho world., Those of you whe plan
to return to Japan during the post-war period can prepeare jour-
selves to enter the communities of your cholce with the idea of
becoming leaders in the preservation of the rights of individuals
to participate in the forming of the laws of government.

"You will ask the guestion, however, how about: us vho ere &
Tule Lake Center, a center that is termed a disloyal camp? Vhat
will be our opportunities if we remain here? I wish to say in
this respect that despite the outcries of certaln newspapers and
certain interested and militant groups, there is a growlng eppreci-
ation on the part of a large number of the American public about
the facts entering into your decision to remain at Tule Lake.
An increasing number of people reslize that the declsion was not
simply a matter of loyalty, that many other factors entered into

your being in this center. Again, there may be radical changes




in the policy of the WRA and even the government itself, in
respect to the residents of Tule Lake. Even the fact that the
Japanese were moved out under a military necessity is being
questioned by some people."

After Mr, Black's initial statement that he hoped for a
complete allied victory noise from the audience was so continuous
that 1t was lmpossible to judge the degree of response to any
of his later statements. VWhen he finished, a mixture of applause
and boos filled the hall, applause from the parents in the middle
section and boos from the young men in ths rear, Almost all of
the Caucasians present were offended by the rudeness shown by
the audience and were unable to understand it. It was sald, how
ever, that a few stafl members remarked that the statement on
the Allied voctory showed poor Judgment and poor taste. Mr. Black
himself was heard to say that he had expected thls reaction but

felt that the speech should be made nevertheless. He added, "I

would have to make an honest speech on the day Tokyo was bomed. "1

Unf'ortunately none of the writer's informants attended the
commencement, JSome older people expressed disapproval of the bad
manners shown by the young people, but most were of the opinion
that Mr. Black should not have made such statemsnts. "K", strongly
pro;Japanesa, expressed himself as followss

"That wasn't the place for a person to make tnat kind of a
statement or speech. A man of his position should know a thing
like that could cause trouble. It would cause bitterness among
the youngsters. They're going to take it as an insult, not to
them, but to the Japanese government.........

"You'll find in this camp that 1f you talk agalnct Japan,

even the kids will get sore. ¥"hen Japan was making those b-ig
advances, even the seven and sight year o0ld klds brought papers
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to read the headlines, Some of them are for America, but when
the Japanese Army suffers a reverse, they say, 'I don't believe
it.' The thing that changed their minds was evacuation.”

To a repetition of Mr. Black's implication that the American
public did not conslder the inhabitants of Tule Lake as entirely
disloyel and that therefore, the road back to life in America
was not completely cut off, "L" gaid scornfully:

"When Colonel meek came to Moab he tried to persuade me to
become an American again. I told him 1 wouldn't change my mind.
He sald, '"What percentage of people 1s loyal to Japan?' I told
him 97». This was just before the talk about the draft. I told
him, 'I doubt if you will have more than 2% enlist,' It turned
out to be 1% per cent.

"when I was in Manganar I told the Citigen's Federation
97% of the people were loyal to Japan. Yerhaps 80% true to
Japan end 15% doubtful right now. The Jupanese American Citizen's
Federation had to disband. I was right."

It is interesting that three or four months after Mr. Black

made this speech Japanese still commented upon it with scorn and
disapproval, stating that he should have known better than to
make such statements in a "disloyal camp,"

Hoodlum activitles of high school age boys

At the reception given for the high school graduates the
teachers noticed that a group of boys entered, dressed in their
everyday clothes. They behaved boisterously and when they were
questioned by the teachers, sald they were high school seniors,
but had gone home to change to everyday clothes after graduation
exercises., Their presence was reported to Mr. Gunderson, the
high school principal when he arrived at the reception. Mr, Gunder-
son asked all uninvited persons to leave. The boys left.

Later, it was discovered that someone had gone into the

boys' latrine and taken off all the mcveable fixtures and flushed
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them down the tollets, Some three inches of water had flooded

the floor before the damage was discovered, So far as is known,

the culprits were never found, although it was generally suspected

that the vandalism was the work of the reception crashers.
Dismissal of the Coal Crew

In mid-June 100 men employed on the coal crew were terminated.
According to Mr. Robertson, head of Operations, these men deserved
their terminations, having loafed on their jobs for a long time.
They were terminated without notice. On June 14, Mr. Robertson
told the writer that the terminated men were going about the
colony telling people that they had been laid off for nothing at
all. Robertson feared that the general population was taking the
matter serlously, because of the already very aggravating lack
of employment. The fact that the termination was not published
was also supposed to be caueing resentment. However, no eriticism
of this act was heard from any informant who was not a member of
the undercover pressure group. Mr, Robertson, whose contacts
with this group are very close, probably allowed their remarks
to influence his perspective unduly.

"K" saids

"I don't think the colony itself is taking any interest in
it. That 1s only the men who were working."

Many other informants stated that they had heard nothing
about the termination, Mrs, "Q", however, an active member of
the pressure group saild:

"We had to work hard to keep the coal crew boys from making

troub%g. We had to tell them again end again that now isn't the
time. _
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The terminated members of the coal crew attempted to see
Mr. Black but were refused. They then sent a committee to see
Mr, Best, but Mr, Best stated that he would see only one man,
Dr. Opler guessed that this was Best's method of avoiding making
any statement before wltnesses, This one man did see Mr, Best,
but nothing resulted from the interview.1

QF GOSSIP ABOUT THE CO-OPLRATIVE ENTERPRISES

After the beatings of Hitomi's brother and Morimoto, gossip
about the misdeeds of the Japanese employed in high positions of
the Co-op increased. Fantastic stories of graft swept the camp.,
Almost every resldent appeared to take part in relating the
stories and 1t is probably that a good proportion of the gossip
was belleved, It is almost certaln that some of these tales
originated wlth the undercover pressure group who had hated the
Co-op's Board of Wirectors bitterly ever since they stood against
the luxury issue in December and helped break the status quo in
January., Nevertheless, no matter what their source, the stories
were eagerly accepted and repeated by the great majority of the
camp reslidents. June 19, Mrs., “Q", a member of the pressure group
related a wild story about My, Hitomi, the General manager of the
Co-op. She sald that the Manzanar group had not wished to get
mixed up with the unsavory men heading the Tule Co-op and had
determined to form a separate entsrprise. (This part of the
story is almost certainly true and corresponds with the general
stand-offish and somewhat superior attitude taken .by the large
group which came to Tule from Manganar in late February.) Mrs. "Q"

continued the story, saying that Mr, Eitomi had approached the
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sanzanar group with a large sum of money to bribe them to enter
the Tule Lake Co-op. Thls sum, a member of the Manzanar group
probably Mr, "U" had kept pinned to his wall "to show to Mr,
Robertson when he came."l The writer does not believe Mr.
Robertson was ever shown this "evidence."

On June 21, Mrs, "F", an older nisei woman sald:

"People say that the Co~-op men are making big money for
themselves, They say that whenever a Co-op man leaves here (relo-
cates) he takes a big plle of money away with him, 4if the Co-op
would make a statement every month, showing where the money goes,
maybe the people wouldn't feel so bad."

On June 25, "I" said:

"'ake the "well-organized Co-op" for instance. (This state-
ment was meant sarcastically.) Heretofore there has been a rumor
that quite a few of the boys high up in the Co-op very nicely
relocated with a big wad of dough. That's a very nice thing to
do to the poor Japs in here.

"They claim it is the policy of all good Co-ops to pay off
when thelr working capital is tripled - then the dividend can be
paid. But inasmuch as the people are stuck here for the duration,
L don't think that's necessary. Instead of paying off, what do
they do? Bulld a new soda water factory and other things, and
you can't tell me they're going to be able to pay that off in
one summer.,

"The Co-op has from 150 to 200 cases of Troco Margarine.
I'd 1like to know where they get it because that stuff is on the
point 1list."

At this point in the conversation "I"'g gister-in-law told
how she had been in a Co-op store the day before when Akitsuki,
the ex-Co-op Secretary and exX-chairman of the Co-ordinating
Committee entered:

"I was in the Co-op yesterday when Akitsuki came in, You
know - we all turned the back to him., Everyone of us. You could
see how it was - public inu number one."

“1" continued with a story about Yamatani, wno had been a
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member of the Uo-ordinating Committee and since the resignation
of that body had taken over the positions of Police Commissioner
and manager of the Co-op's tofu factory.

"Yamatanl tried tc gyp us out of about 100 cakes cf tofu
the other day. The tofu i1s sent to the messes in tubs of about
50 cakes each., Lach mess called up and complained that they
were from five to ten cakes short, 1 went to see Yamatanl about
it. He sald, 'Of course, it's possible that the fellows in the
mess took them (the tofu) home with them.' He finally promised
that the Co-op would make ths loss good."

As a final indlctment of the Co-op "I" added:

"It wouldn't surprise me a bit 1f Mpr, Best wasn't getting
a little from the Co-op. Inasmuch as there have been three
dividends passed up for lack of funds. That starts to smell."l

It should be noted that "I" and his family who appeared to
belleve that many storles of the Co-op graft were true, are intel-
ligent nlsel and at this time, had no sympathy whatever with the
"agitators” or the pressure group. "I" was, in fact, already
planning to relocate.

The biltterneas of the attlitudes expressed by his family,
and by several other informants who had no connection with the
pressure groups or who were hostile to the "trouble-makers"
made 1t quite evident at this time that hostility toward the
Co-op's Board of directors was widsspread throughout the camp.

The same day an interesting attitude on the part of the
young Japanese teachers, teaching in the Caucasian school was
reported. At one of their meetings, Miss Hobby, thelr supervisor,
instituted a dilscussion on Co-operatives. Immediately, she was
deluged by critical remarks and sneers at the expense of the
Tule Lake Co-operative. She then suggested that the teachers

get their complalnts in order and invite Mr. Runcorn, the Supervisor
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of the Co-op, to address them and answer their complaints. This,
the teachers, young Japanese of superior intelligence and consi-
derable American background, absolutely refused to do. They
were not moved b; Miss Hobby's argument that they were teachers
and had a duty as "leaders of the community." One said, "Ve
start this and 1t'll be two-by-fours for us."l

Another informant, a kindly old issel who was extremely
critical of any agitation or violence stated on June 27:

"The information I get from all over say that there are a
few of the managers of the Co-op who have a close relationship
with the WRA officials. They are getting graft out of the Co-op
(both Appointed Personnel and evacuees). The first thing 1
heard when I came to this camp was, "If you say anything against
the Co-op here you'll be arrested. As long as the Co-op 1s
carried on this way, someday another big trouble will happen."2

On June 30, a gentle kibei woman recounted the following
gossips

"There is a certain man working in ths shoestore, an old
Tulean. He is the man right under the Caucasian head, He told
me that the man who worked before him (before Mr. Best came to
Tule Lake) had taken so many thousands of dollars of the profits.
We don't profit anything her'e3 The project director sent him
out of here (with the money).

On July 2, the afternoon of the day on which Hitoml was
murdered Mrs, K, a niasel, remarked that she had heard that some
people had said that when Hitomi's brother was beaten, the beaters
had really been after Hitomi himself. But, said she, they thought
the brother ought to be beaten up too. "The Co-op is getting
more and more unpopular," she said. "Several people have told

me, 'If you say anything against the Co-op anywhere, you're

going to be put in the stockade.'"® This specific accusation
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agalnst the Co-op was made by half a dozen informants in the
two weeks prior to Hitomi's death. It was stressed by "K", whose
statement, made after murder, will be inserted later. (See p. )

After Hitomi's death some informants still) repested uncompli-
mentary rumors which they stated they had heard before the murder
ocourred.

"Y" remarked:

"Also, they sald Mr, Hitom! hired nothing but Sacramento
people in the Co-op. He hired hls brother in the Sewing Factory,
his relatives and his friends in the Co-op,"l

K" saild:

"Matsumoto (the Chairman of the Board of Directors) bankrupted
the Nippon bank in Sacramento. Do you think he came out penniless.,

"Mr, Yamatani has said numerous times, 'If I'm afraid of
two by fours, I can't make money.'.......Mr. Yamatani embezzled
$20,000 and was sent to jail. A third party came in and he
returned $9,000 in bonds and stocks. 8o he didn't go to jail."2

Indication that the gosslip about the Co-op was not confined
to transferees but was also indulged in by old Tuleans may be
seen in the remarkd of a very Americanized young nisei girl, an
old Tulean, who planned to leave Tule Lake and enter a nursing
school in the United Stateas.

"The old Tuleans, I know, felt he got what he deserved.
After all he did! They were all saying he was going to resign
and leave camp. They said this after he died. They salid he had
made his kill and was planning to go.

“Even the old Tuleans hated him. &verybody knew him for
what he was.

"A lady found $300 in & box of cake, 8She was honest and
took it back to the Co-op. They gave her a couple more cakes
to keep her quiet.

"Individually in the canteens they graft too. If you have

livid., July 19, p. 2.
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a friend you can go to the canteen and buy things for half price,
The clerks have no personal feeling toward the Co-op as their
organization.

"I hear the new manager found lots of luxuries in the ware-
house. We don't need such expensive cosmetics and things.l They
found a lot of ice skates, They must have gotten them on the
black market, because you can't buy them outside now, They have
nothing but black market stuff}"e

Another old Tulean glrl said:;

"They say the Co-op was buying WRA stuff and selling it in
the canteens, S

Only one informant, a nisei girl from Gila, absolutely anti-
pathetic to the "trouble-makers" remarked that in her opinion
the stories golng around were rumors. Though many other colonists
rmat have had thoir doubts about the wilder stories, these doubts

were very seldom expressed,

“"Tn camp there were so many rumors at that time. People
. believed they were true. They alwayz said, 'My friends say it.'

It almost makes anybody believe it,"
Attitude of the Board of Diregtors

The attitude which the Co-operative's Board of Directors
held toward the general camp population was not nne conducive to
the establishment of better feeling., 1In interviews with Messrs.
Akitsuki, Yoshimura, and Iwamoto, the writer was inpressed by
unmistakable tone of superiority and snobbery which their remarks
took on, whenever they spoke of the common peopls. It is extremely
difficult to show this tone in a printed verbatim statement. The
following remarks made by Mr, Yoghimura are the best example

available:

11t 1s interesting to see this antli-luxury attitude expressed by
an old Tulean.

2R, Hankey, Notes, Aug. 24, pp. 4-5.

S1bid., Aug. 30, p. 3.
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"An important fault of the Japanese people here: they don't
pay too much attentlon whom they elect to certain offices. Yhen
you have a meeting, somebody that has not a speck of brains
comes out and talk, talk, talk. le gets i1t. In one of the Co-op
offlces - I don't see why that man was elected.

"I find oul that the more responsibility a person has, the
less he can talk interestingly to the croud. You can wateh crowd
psychology when you have no responsiblity. In this center when
you talk before a gib crowd, intelligence has nothing to df with
it, If you make a sensible speech, anybody calls you inu,

A young nisel girl, an old Tulean and anti-status quo in
sentiment expressed her reactlon to this attitude of superiority.
There 1s no doubt that hor attitude of resentment was shared by
many people 1n camp and that it was not limited only to Mr, Hitomi.

"Mr. Hitomi on the whole wasn't liked. To the average person
he appeared to act superior. He made it tough, He made people
hate him., He had no education. I don't see why he pug it on.
Being business manager of the Co-op went to his head,"

Dr., Opler made a similar comment:

“They were pretty damned snobbish about the people in the
center. They took the attitude, 'Ve're smart business men, The
people are dumb,' They never verbalized it but it was there.

It showed in the Co-ordinating Committge's actions also., Hitomi
was very much of that way of thought,”

Attitude of the Administration

Early 4n June, the Caucasian supervisor of Co-operative
Enterprises, Mr. McNeil, was replaced by Mr. Runcorn. Mr. Runcorn,
an ideallst and a conscientious objector, did not make a good
impression on Mr. Best or Mr, Black. Dr. Opler was of the opinion
that the antipathy between Black and Runcorn was increased because
Mr. Black had been director of the Black-Fox Military Academy in
Los Angeles, and consequently, did not take kindily to a man

of Mr. Runcorn's conviction, A serious disapgreement developed
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over the issue of the salary to be paid those Japanese who were

employed as domestics in the apartments of the staff members!

famllies, %he Caucasian employers had been paying $30 a month,

$19 of which was received by the Japanagq_pmployeo:riﬁglremainder
be&ég;&éed~t&~ﬁ;f;ayﬁe$penséslzza:idilﬁgéix;tho 18% of profit on
which-the Co-operative knterprises operated. Runcorn held that
thls salary should be raised to $40 a month, The surplus would
then go into the Co-op and increase the members' dividends. The
Board of Directors, according to lir. Runcorn, stood strongly
behind him on the issue. Mr. Black, however was absolutely
opposed to it, Heceiving no satisfaction from Mr, Black, Mr.
Runcorn took the matter up with Mr, Best. When Runcorn explained
that he felt that the Caucasian staff was "taking advantege of
the situation under which the evacuees were forced to live,"
Mr. Best stated, "I'm not going to have anybody here siding with
. the people against me.," MNr, Runcorn made repeated efforts to
win over Black but made no progress. When he pointed out that
the staff members would have pay #80 a month for the service
they were recelving on the project for {30, Mr., Black cursed and
swore. <This information came from Mr. Runcorn himself, and is
undoubtedly true, since he was a naively honest and truthful man,
The Board of Directors took a very strong stand against the
Administration on this domestic wage 1ssue and threatened to
resign in a body if the $30 a month salary were continued, &ventu-
ally they agreed to compromise at $35 a month but Mr, Black again
refuged to consider it, Hunecorn, who, through Dr. Opler, had been
glven some 1dea of the low opinion in which the Board of Directors

was held by the people, believed that if the borad's stand for a




¥35 wege were publicized 1t would increase the body's prestige.
An article was prepared for the Co-operative publicetion. After
1,500 mimeograpghed sneets had been prepared, Mr, Black heard of
the matter, and forbade the distribution of the sheets. They
were thrown away.

Runcorn's reasoning in this matter is open to eriticism, for
publicatlion of such & statement could do little against the gresat
power of the peoples' hatred toward the Board. Moreover, since
almost no evacuee in Tule Lake understood the principles under
which a Co-operative operates, the higher wage would appear to
be only & way in which the Doard could add to the hoard of cash
whlch they were popularly repgerded to be accurmlating for their
own nefarious ends.

This domestic service issue was of infinitesimal interest
to the people., No informants mentlioned it. It has been recounte d
here to show the attitude of the Administration toward the Co-
operative during this period of incressing tension.

Attempted hammer rmurder

On June 22 a deranged evacuee attacked his room-mate with
a hammer. Uhile 1t apjears that this attack had no connection

with the feellng agalnst the inu,it notably increased the tension

in camp. The following account appeared in the Newell Star on

July 29
ANVL STIGATION CONTINUES ON BATTERY CASE

Investigation by authorities is being conducted of battery
charges agalnst Shigeo Okamoto, 40, of 3301-D for injuries
inflicted on Sonosuke Suzuki, 51, of 3301-D and Haruji Tanabe,
56, of 3319-F last Vlednesday night,

Suguki received a severe hammer blow on the head and when
taken to the hospital, he was reported suffering from a fractured




skull. Tanabe was also struck on the head but he escaped with
only minor injuries.

The Colonial Folice Lepartment disclosed that Okamoto, immedi-
ately after the attacks, surrendered himself to the police.

The departmesnt announced that Ukamoto was lodged in the
local jail until Saturday; at which time he was removed to the
Modoe county jail in Alturas until further disposition of his
case.

According to fairly well posted evacuee informanta, Okamoto
and Suzuki had been old friends and were rooming together, Both
nf the men were sald to be issel and had come from Rohwer. Many
months before Okamoto nad spent some time in the stockade. An
account of an informant living in a nearby block is fairly
accurate:

"1 heard this man (Okamoto) went to this bachelor's place
and cut him up withh a hatechet. (Another version has it that
Okamoto attacked his room-mate while the room-mate was on his
cot, asleep.) Nobody knew what the resson was, They say the man
who did the attacking was quiet and nice. After that he went to
a married couple's place. He knocked on the door and the wife
anawered. He flung her aslde and attacked the man. Then he went
to the warden's office and reported (gave himself up). Suzuki
and Tanabe were the men attacked, 1 hear. . . .

“I hear everybody is nervous in here. *This place gives me
the willies."l

Several informants remarked that "“the man must have been
crazy, becauss he went to the warden's office and gave himself
up." The "Q"'s hinted that the attacker may have considered his
room-mate an inu. 1t should be remembered that the "Q"'s, as
members of the pressure grouy, nhad an interest in increasing the
nervous tension in caupe.

On July 2, Mrs, “"K" commented on this and the other beatings
stating that the attackers were "too smart to get caught." She

added;

livb1d., July 24, p. 1.




The man who did turn himself oOver was crazy. %That's why
he gave himself up. leople are saying that even this beating
was an inu beating. 4Yhe old man had found out that his friend
was acting like an inu."l

EIECTION OF EICHT WARD rOLICE COMMISSIONERS

On June 22, the Newell Star announced that an election would
be held to eloct eight ward police commissioners whose function
would be "to bring about an understanding and co-operation between
the colonists and the Folice Department in the enforcemsnt of
rules which have been set up for the good of the center." Atti-
tudes toward this propoosal were very difficult to obtain, because
no one pald any attention to it, Every statement made was obtained
only after a specific question was asked. The announcement made
in the Newell Starf follows:

PROPOSAL TO SEIECY EIGHT WARD POLICE COMMISSIONERS

Reslidents are notified of a plan advanced by froject Director
Hay Best for the selection of a body of eight men who will act
as Commissioners of the Colonial Police Department, ‘The Commis-
sloners will save the responaibility of bringing about an under-
standlng and cooperation between the colonists and the Police
Dopartmont in the onforcement of rules which have been set up
for the good of the center.

PRO CE DURE

An election will be held “ednesday in each block to select
by ballot or by acclamation one man whom they consider qualified
to act as a rolico Commlssioner. at the block elections, the
block elections, the bloeck manager will take charge of the meeting
and appoint a committee of three persons from the block to act
as Judges and to count ballots if the balloting system is ussad.

No person who ia serving as a block manager will be eligible
to be selected for this poslition.

After the elections are completed, the ward chairman will
be provided with the names of person elected in each block, He
will prepare the nescessary ballots by listing the names of persons
selected from each block and the number of the block which they
represont, He will then call for an election to be held at every
block in his ward on Wednesday, July 5 wherein all persons over
the age of 21 wlll be entitled to vote. They will cast their

libig,, July 2, p.2.




vote for three persons on the ballots,

The three persons who receive the greatest number of votes
in this ward election will be called in at a later date for an
interview with Assistant FrojJect Director Harry Black and Supervi-
sor William C., Holding of the Polige Department; at which time
one of the three men wlll be selected to act as Folice Commissimer
for the ward.

The day following this announcement, "Y" was asked what he
thought about the matter., He stated that he thought that the
election might be more successful than the Administration's
attempt to Ifurther the election of a Representative Body in May.

"It may have a 50-50 chance, You see the Internal Security
1s very bad., Somebody might think, "We're %oing to change this
system," So the election might go better."

"K", when questioned, said he had not even heard of the

matter, (K usually keeps well informed on such issues.) He was

willing to guess, however, that it would be a resounding failure.

Nobody with any self-respect would take the poslition because they
would invariably be labelled inu,?

"I" did not think the proposal would succeed elther:

"I don't know. I don't think it's going to be such a hot
idea. Tha people aren't going to like 1t, I think, It's giving
the people the impressaion that they're putting them under additional
survelllance."d

The "Q"s, pressure goup leaders, stated frankly that they
were hoping that the election would be even a bigger flop than
the attempt to elect representatives in May.4

The elections were held on May 27 and appear to have been

very poorly attended. WNo announcement of the number of persons
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voting was ever made although the police commisslioners were duly
elected and accepted by tlie Administration. Some informants,
when questioned about the electlon, said They had not heard about
it., No one showed any interest. Mrs, "Y" sald:

"The Block Manager announced it 1n the mess hall at lunch
time. He sald we'd have a meeting. but he sald a certain number
of people have to come to have the meeting and if you don't come,
we can't have it., I don't_think many people went, George (her
husband) and I didn't go."l

Mrs., "4&", living in a very strong status-quo block, reported
that her block had had no meating at ell.< Block 6, made nomineas-
tions, to the great disgust of the "Q"'S who live in this block.
They explalned that only about ten people had attended the meeting
whereupon the block manager explained that there was nothing in
the announcement about a quorum and proceeded with the nomination.5
“"K", who lives in block 7, reported that he and the block residents
had been urged to come to the meeting but that only about four
people had attended. "K" then turned to a friend from the Manganar
section who happened to De present and asked, "How was it in Man-
zanar? ‘lere there enough inus there (to hold an election?" The
friend saild that he did not think there had been any nominations

in his block. "Who wants to be a legal dog?" he added,%

LSSEI STOCKALLE INTRLANRLES SENT TO SANTA FE

un July 28, the removal of 15 of the iassei confined in the
stockade, a movement which the administration had been considering
for some time, was finally accomplished. Concern over possible

reverberations in the colony had been expressed by several member s
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of the aAdministration, Mr. Robertson in particular., This concern
proved, for the most pari, to be unfounded. Vhile the pressure
group made ominous remarks on what "the people would do," and
while friends and acquaintances of the men removed were angry,
no overt protest was made,

ihe day before the men were taken from camp, they were allowed
to say farewell to thelr familles, & privilege on which Mr. Robert-
son had insisted. .1t was also reported by a wember of lnternal
Securlty that they had written to their families, requesting thet
no demonstratlon accompany thelr departure. Remarks made by
members of tle Adminlstrative Stafl indicate that they had attempted
to reconcile these issel to the transfer on the grounds that their
transfer to Santa e would increase thelr chance of an early return
to Japan, Mr, Black, while not gdmittling that any such statemert
had been wade to the internees, told a meeting of the Community
wanagement Section that thls transfer would increase the men's
chances of repatriation.l

+he leave taking was accompanied by considerable ceremony.
Speeci®s were made und songs sung, among which were the Japanese
National Anthemn and auld Lang Syne. Some three to four hundred
people gathered at that part of the coliony fence nearest the
stockade. #~vacuees employed in the Administrative ssction watched
thie proceedings covertly from behind nearby burrécks. The men,
dressed in thelr beat sults, left the stockade huntily and as
each entered the Dus he was glven a rousing cheer by those left
behind in the stockade,

That same evening, or the evening preceding, Mr, Tsuda, the

1
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leader of one of the pressure groups which had been working to

get the men out of the stockade called a meeting of the relatives

of the transferred men., H1s home was watched by the police through-
out the night. Mr, Best, however, waa reported to be in excellent
spirits and to have telephoned Washington that camp affairs were
going beuutirully.l

4+t was not possible to cbtain a general picture of how the
removal of these men was regarded by the ccloniste. Only one
informant "Y"'s wife, was contacted before the Hitomi rmurder made
visits impossible., “Y"'s wife, while she voted against status
quo, lived in a very strong status quo block. OUne of the men
tranaferred to Santa Feo was also a former resident of this blocke.

"Both George and 1 think there's golng to be a lot of trouble
here since these 13 men were sent to 3anta Fe. HMr., Komiya in
this block was sent. He was Just secretary to Mr. Takahashi.

It's very mysterions, 4it's funny that he was sent to Santa Fe
and Mr. Takahasnl wasn't even arrested. 1 can tell you that
everybody in the block thinks very little of him (Mr. Takahashi).
The feeling is very Dad. . « «

"The people are very upset about the people beinz sent to
Santa Fe. Many people say that they have been fooled: they
aren't going to be sent to Japan first, just because they were
sent to Santa Fe.

"I don't xnow. Lthe people herg jnust shut up. With Mr,
Takahashi here, nobody trusts him,"~<

Mrs., ¥, 1mplies that the people did not dare to express
themselves frankly on the matter of the transfer to Santa Fe,
for fear that Mr, Takahaahi would report them to the Administra-
tion., Two nights after the statement was made lir, Takahashil was
assaulted by mysterious assallants but was not injured seriously.

BRALING OF AURLIARA

. On June 29 a resident of block 74 named Lurihara was beaten,

1ipid., June 28, p. 1.
21bid., June 30, p. l.




According to rumor, he had come from Heart Mountain and was
reputed to be a close friend of Mr., Tateishi, one of the "number
oen" inu., He was also seld to have been a member of the Dalhyo
Eﬂ&_ﬁ&i-l Informants contacted spoke of the matter casually.
Beatings had become such common occurrances that they aroused
notlceably less interest and excitement, On the Kurihara beatirg
"Y%"tg wife sald:;

"People are telling George that the man who was beaten didn't
Z(rw:x;r:why he was beaten. Dbut some say there was a good reason for
p I 5

"K" remarked that he had heard that Kurihara had been very

unpopul ar in hip blook, The writer osked him why only third rate Iinu

war. being esten up. ¥You ghould tmow," meid "K', "The big om:z nre toe

wel)l punrded, Eul the gusrd #3111 elip up sowe time " 5/

The dey before Fitond wse rurdered the wyiter end ¥r, Pobertsen disoussed
the colouy situstion and osme to the eomolusion thet the tengi-n ard
unesige had penched 8 heretofore unprecidented pitch, Mre Fobertson war not
reaiding at Tule (mks during the Voveuwber trouble Lut rteted thst he believed
that the state of tenaion in the o Tony et thimxvdme the moment wss wsyaw
probsbly worse than it bad been in Noveuwbsr, He hed spsnt the sfternoon of
the 2pd of July visiting in the o lony ond tmd hecome depressed and greatly
ooncernsd over the sttitude of the people, Persone who hed heretofore
grested him oourtéously uvw ignored him or turoed thedr beeks., Sines
Roberteon weg oxtrsordinsrily populsr end respectsd highly by the colonists,
this coldiess weg very signilicont, He informed the writer that ayf aroup
with whon he hwd net had to1d him thot the sending of the internees to
Santn Feé wee the lnst strew, From now on they were through with Mr, Best,

They wer« no longer going to try to o ntrol the young feliows, who, socording
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to their cocount, "ws heve hed diffionity restroining for & lonz time,"
He wus also told thet from now on not only beatings were to be expected -
There might be murder, Alnrmed by the mer fousness of the situetion, he
had hed » talk with wr, Funcorn, the Superviger of the Co=-op, and hed ree
streeced the receeseity of mkine on 2ttempt to deorease the unpopulsr ity of
the Co-op. Runearn hed sugpested the fmmedinte iesuing of & divident,
Runcorn hed ingisted, nowever, thot the hoeke mere correct, since they were
gone over every mouth by en mecountent from outeide the project. Robertson
Fecommedad thet ¢he monthly statewe nt be presented to the people in
sinple, understondeble form. Funoorn gedd he had not oreviously thourht
of doing this.

Although lir. Robertecn he” entered the colony seoretly on Saturdsy,
imrediotely on returnine to the Adrd nistrotive sver he wog enlled in by
Ero Deste Wr, Dest asled hi- how thinrs weve goirm. "Do vou went ms to

tell gam the truth?” esisé Robertson, "Carteinly," sadid Best, "Phey are

worse then every," sedd Robertsons "You've ornzy,"” eedd Rest, lsughing. 1/

Cn the morning of July 4th, the conp Wie @lrotrificd by the news that
Toeno Hitomd, the (o=-op'e Gener @1 Meneger, hed heen murdered while on h's

Wey houe from the orrniva] held on Sundoy night,




A long knife had been driven through hls throat, from the region

of the larynx to the base of the brain. He had, evidently, been
attacked near his apartment, for he was found on the doorstep of
one of his neighbors. Whether the assailant or assallants followed
him from the carnival or waited for him near his home 1s not known,
Some investigators were of the opinion that several men were 1n-
volved, since the knife was driven in a manner which would indicate
that Hitomli was held by one or more men while another stabbed him,
Other investligators stated that a man who knew how to use a knife

could have done it alone. Much later, it was remarked by the

Project Attorney, Mr., Noyes, that it had been discovered that the

murderer had gone into the latrine and washed himself at which
time he might have been easlly captured. Little of the above
information can be corroborated unless the writer 1s glven access
to the reports of the investlgators.

On July 6th the following information was released in the

Newell Star.

COOP MANAGER SLAIN BY MYSTERIOUS ASSASSIN

Officials Offer Resignations

Victim of an attack by an unidentified assailant, XYaozo
Hitomi, 44-year-old general manager of the Tule Lake Cooperative
Enterprises, was found knifed to death Sunday night near his
residence at 3514-A.

Hitomi was found by his niece Fumiko Hitomi 1lying against
the porch of his neighbor's apartment with a stab wound through
the thoat, which apparently was administered with a long-bladed
knife. He was dead when removed to the base hospitsal.

Prior to evacuation the victim had lived in Sacramento as an
agent for Sunlight Insurance Company. He is survived by his wife,
Shizuye, and three children, Mamoru, Mitsuru, and Reiko, all
residing in this center.




MEETING

As a result of his slaying, an emergency Cooperative Board
of Director's Meetlng was called wonday morning; at which time
all 17 members of the board resolved to tender thelir resignations
collectlively.

Subsequently, the following officials of the Cooperative
tendered their resignations which were approved and accepted by
the Board of Directors: Masao Nishimi, assistant manager; Masamori
Maruyama, treasurer; Reno Yoshimura, executive secretary; George
Nakamura, business manager; lMasao Iwawaki, personnel director; and
Toshio Tomoshige, information director.

Canteens were reopened yesterday as the result of a meeting
between the Board of Directors and canteen and factory managers
on the same day.

EVENTS ReSULTING FROM HITOMI MURIER

Mr. Hitomi's death was followed by a number of interesting
occurrances, all of which hinged upon it to some degree. First
of all came the immediate resignation of the Board of Directors
of the Co-operative and all the key employees. For a time it
appeared as 1f there would be wholesale resignations among the
entire Co-op staff. The store managers wished to resign but were
eventually coaxed into keeping their jobs by the new Board of
Directors., Every member of the old board resigned except Mr,
Gunderson, the Caucasian member who held his position by virtue
of canteen number 4, which was located in the Administrative area
for the convenience of the personnel.l

Fifteen families of Japanese, were removed from the camp to
protect the lives of some member who had reason to believe he might

be murdered next. Among these men were Yamatani and Akitsuki,

ex-members of the Co-ordinating Committee, Mr, Tateishi, the

rumored public inu number 1, Mr., Shimokon, the Japanese head of

Internal Security, Mr. Matsuoka, the president of the Co-operative

who had a2lso resigned, Mr. Takahashi, and several other persons
lipid., July 12, 1944, p. 2.




who had held high positions in the Co-op. Whether thls exodus
was initiated by the Japanese or by the Administration is not
certainly known. Well informed persons stated that the members

of the Caucasian police called at these men's homes and told them
to come with them or Administration would not be responsible for
their lives. Some are sald to have gone under protest, Almost
half of them returned to the center a few days later. The remalnder
refused to return for several weeks (?) even though Mr. Best, who
after about ten days had a change of mind regarding thelr fate,
urge? them to do so., Three of the men eventually left Tule Lake
and téo&Pﬁﬁ}résidence in other centers., These were Messrs. Yamatani,
Shimokon and Tateishi. %The latter is reputed to have been forced
out of Heart Mountain, his center of refuge, by adverse public
opinion there. The people of Heart Mountain, it was said, did
not wish to harbor Tule Lake's dogs. It is impossible to say

that the removal of these men was unwise. Yamatanl, Tateishi

and Akitsukl were so unpopular that had they remained in the
center during this tense period they might have suffered violence.
The Administration received word of several anonymous threats
immediately after the murder; one threat in particular, 1is said
to have promised the murder of all the Board of Directors of the
Co-op. The peoples' attitudes regarding these fleeing persons
will be discussed later.

Immediately after the murder the canteens were crowded with

people stocking up on food supplies. They feared that the stores

would be closed, a policy which Mr. Yamatani strongly urged upon

Mr., Runcorn to Runcorn's great disgust.




"Yamatanl just pleaded with me to be a dictator and close
the stores. 1 ﬂfs disgusted with him., I can see how the people
feel about him,

The stores were not closed and the hoarding impulse wore
itself out.

1Two weeks after the murder the entire staff of the Japanese
Colonial Folice resigned in a body, having no doubt decided that
they could no longer carry on in their state of unpopularity.
Two events which closely followed the murder but had no connection
with 1t were the announcement of the results of the Court Martial
trial of the soldier who shot Soichi Okamoto and the arrival on
the project of Mr. Ernest Besig, the representative of the American
Civil Liberties Union to which organization the stockade internees
had appealed. All of these matters will be discussed in the follow-

ing sections in complete detall.

. IMME DIATE EVACUEE REACTIONS TO THE MURIER

The immediate camp reaction to the murder was a universal
state of great excitement, tension and fear. At first the gwewt
ma jority of the people assumed that Hitomi had met his fate because
of his tremendously bad reputation, and the fear of committing
any act which would remotely resemble that of an inu rose so high
that all but the most courageous of the writer's informants refused,
though politely, to recelve her £;iﬁ:; apartments., After a period
of about two weeks the fine edge of this terror decreased and
guarded contacts with Caucaslans were resumed. So thoroughly
did the rurder purge the abnormal hatred of the inu that it never
arose again as a significant campwide phenomenon.

The dominant immediate reaction to the death itself was a

widespread conviction that the deceased had met the fate he deserved.
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goupled with the determinetirn net to say anythine whieh wou1d bhetray
the murderer, As K. expresssed it: "The chief attiti ig that averyhody

shut up like a olam., The murderer did a nice piece of work as far ag

t. FOE€ 8§ l" -1'.—/

1/ ibid., July 20,,1944, p. 1.




Time tempered this attitude a great deal, but the first expressed
reactlon of many people, people who were in no way radical or
blood-thirsty, was that Hitomi had got only what was coming to

him. A most vivid and accurate account of this attitude was
prepared for the writer by K. Though this paper was largely an
expression of K's personal opinions, the attitudes expressed therein
were common to the majority of the people. K. kept himself well

acqualnted with popular attitudes. His personal hatred of the

“dogs" as revealed in his statements must not be considered

particularly exaggerated. Most people bore similar sentiments
but did not express them as frankly,

K'S MANUSCRIFT prepared before July 20.

It may seem rather unjust to those who are not posted with
the affairs of the camp to blame the Administration for the present
fear and unrest caused by terroism, but however unjust it may seem,
it is true, It i1sthe product of the American Justice as practiced
by the W.R.,A. Administratiou at ltule Lake.

The beating of Hitomi, Morimoto, I. Takahashi, and the murder
of 1, Hitomi can be placed at the very doorsteps of the Administrs -
tlon. Ever since my arrival here at Tule Lake, I have heard cons-
tant resentments being voiced by the residents against the Co-
operative Enterprise.

The basic reasons of constant grumbling that which finally
had culminated in a murder are:

1. The Co-operative Enterprise was arrogantly selling articles
such as buckets, brooms, and even coal hand shovels, which the
W.R.A. was under obligation to supply to the residents. The resi-
dents have again and again voiced their objection but the manage-
ment, instead of heeding the volice of the people, kept right on
selling with a take-it-or-leave-it attitude and at a handsome price,

2. The Adminlstration, well aware of the facts deliberately
withheld the distributlion of the buckets and brooms when these
articles of household necessities were piled high in the warehouses,

3. The Co-operative was selling many items of luxury.
Opposition to such practice was heard everywhere. Block repre-
sentatives attending and discussing such matters have vigorously
volced the opinion of the people but the management instead of
heeding it, have boldly spited them,




4, 4&ny person who unflinchingly attacked the Co-operative
was 1lmmediately reported to the Administration through the Civie
Center, Without question, that person was then apprehended and
thrown into the stockade and confined there indefinitely without
even a semblance of a trial.l

5. It is the belief of the residents that the Co-operative
was solely responsible for the defeat of the Status quo. They've
urged the people to return to work, The Co-ordinating Committees
in function at the time of strike were men who were directly con-
nected with the Co-operative. They, instead of helping the resi-
dents, became the tool of the Adminlistration. Those who openly
defies them or volce any opinion condemning the Administration was
reported and thrown into the stockade. The committee thereafter
were branded as Administration Sples. Drunk with the power vested
in them, they became unbearably haughty. Dlaily arrests were a
common thing. Scores were isolated and kept within a narrow
confineme nt without a trial for months, Such 1s American Justice
here at Tule Lake.

6. The Committees believing themselves immune have openly
challenged the residents after receiving threats through mail.
At the same time they weren't so brave. Fearing attack, they
employed body-guards at the expense of the people, paying out of
the Co-operative fund. Some were even pald by the Administratlon,
I heard, It may only be a rumor, but the employment of body-guards
are true., Even under such circumstances, they refused to listen
to the voice of the people, because they firmly belleved that they
were immune under the protection and power vested in them by the
Administration.

7. All these facts were undoubtedly known to the Administra-
tion, but not-a-thing was done to alter or better the situation.
The Co-operative was the sorest spot in the camp. The heads of
Co-operative were under constant threats which they were laughing
away. Hence the murder took place which brought them to realiza-
tion.

Today those people, scoundrels in the eyes of the Japanese
people are under protective custody, sleeping in one of the Nurses'
Quarters in the Base Hospital. They are not wanted there. They
are fed in the Caucasian Mess Hall, where they are likewise despised.
Director Best has a problem on his hand, trying to take care of
unassimilable oriental dogs.

This problem can be easily solved. My suggestion is - release
all those in the stockade and place those dogs within its confine-
ment, It i1s the best place for them, They will be well protected
with high fences around them. Lately the north side was plaster-

boarded so none can look in or out. It is just the place for them.
They can meditate undisturbed and at leisure.

lThis remark was heard on every hand one to two weeks before Hitomi's
death.




The killing of Y. Hitomi was a blessing 'to the residents. I
have yet to see who really feels sorry for him, other than those
of his immediate family. Never have I seen such pleasant reaction
to a murder in all my life.

Several others are sald to be in line for the grave. Had
they not been given protective custody, they too may be dead by
now; and their death, violent as it may be will be openly re jolced
by the residents, ,

Thus public sanction of Y. Hitomi's murder will undoubtedly
encourage the executlioner to carry on his or their work, A good
work, He no doubt 1s feeling like a hero receiving public approval
and re jolcement., Hope he won't betray himself, feeling elated,

. L] . . L] - - . . - . L] .

Why do I approve 1it? DBecause there is no law here in this
camp. If there is law, which the Administration would say that
there is, then I would say, there is no Justice. Law without
justice is no law.

The Administration have so far listened to the Rats and upon
the strength of thelr flimsy charges, it arrested and threw many
into the stockade, isolating them for many months without a trial.
It kept this up too long and too often. If this 1s not a Gestapo
Method what else 1is 1t?

. . . . - . - . - - . - -

In the case with the Administration dealing with the spies
had gone too far., It cannot wash its hands off so easily. The
dogs it sponsored must be fed and cared. They are now being housed
in the Warehouse section, furnished with ice-box and stove of their
own so they can prepare a meal for themselves, The refusal of tre
crews employed in the Caucasian Mess Hall to care for them have
necessitated it., What a sight to have them around tke Administra-
tion Area,

A second group of pups are now being raised by the Adminis-
tration. Thesewere those born in the stockade. They are now
working hand in hand with the Administration,

From the informations which I have secured, the master minds
are forming a gang of their own for protection. They are being
carefully watched. They are trying very hard to convinee the
residence by putting up a brave front, broadcasting aloud that
what they are doing is for tke good of the people, but their
deception is so clear, they are being shunned. With every move
they make, they are edglng deeper and deeper into the Administra-
tive quagmire from which they will not be able to extricate them-
selves,




It is my prediction the next person whose throat would be
slashed will be out of this group of dogs, especially the one
which wagged its tail the most, I feel that I could positively
name the victim, When hils throat 1s slashed, Mr, Best will have
more hounds to care, the very reflection of his administrative
ability,., Must America continue to suffer by tolerating such a
man to manage the affairs of this camp?

As long as the Administration continues to employ the services
of the lowly dogs, this camp will never return to normal., And as
long as the Administration uses them, there willbe an execution
or executions,

Those who escape execution under protective custody may some-
day Dbe forced to return to Japan. Though he may sail across the
great ocean, all the water in the seas will not be enough to wash
the stigma he had earned. They are good as dead or probably
worse by suffering a living hell.

. . L] . . . - . . . . - . .

The present trend of war 1s not very encouraging to tle
Japanese. Those who cannot take 1t are grumbling. Those who are
unable to think for themselves are worrying. But those who know
are re joleing over the fact that the climax is approaching fast
in favor of their beloved country, Japan.

If thelr plan is discovered, then the war will either enter
a stalemate or be fought for many years. How long will America
be able to fight? My personal opinion is; America has reached
the climax. A4nother year of war, two at the most 1s all she can
fight., The country in the meantime will be torn with strikes and
revolt.

Japan on the other hand will fight on indefinitely. Her
greatest strength second only to the Will o the Soldiers to
fight unto death.

Hence my faith in her remains unchanged whatever the reverses
at present may be.

A nisei girl, who like K. was not radical in her general
views expressed herself almost as frankly but more briefly:

"This might sound awfully heartless, but nobody had any
smypathy for him (Hitomi). The whole camp felt that way. It had
a log to do with the Co-op and people felt he was really behind
all the things going on with the Administration and especailly
for the people sent into the stockade - especially the more recert
pick-ups. The people began to hate the Co-op especially after
Akitsukl and-Eitemi-were-sus was transferred from the Co-op
head to the Co-ordinating Committee. Akitsuki and Hitomi were




suspected. When people kept being put into the stockade after
the Co-ordinating Committee was put into office, the people became
angry."”

Mr, Abe, a kindly issel made a similar statement, emphasizing
the reaction to Hitomi's death by contrasting it with that which
followed the shooting of Mr. Okamotos:

"I have not heard a single man say, 'I'm sorry he's dea.'
When Okamoto was shot to death the whole camg closed down all
entertainment, even small parties at homes,"

Abe pointed out that the large camp recreation events, such

as base-ball games, were carried on after Hitomi's death as if

nothing had occurred.

-

A few weeks after the murder, however,fphange of mind began

to make 1tself shown. <vhe disturbing fact that a murderer or a
group of murderers was free in camp, who, encouraged by apparent
success, might turn on anyone whose actions did not meet approval
began to obtrude itself through the satisfaction of seeing a man
regarded as a hated traitor meet his proper doom. As Mr. Fujimoto,
who was growlng steadlly more conservative in his views, expressed
it

"'he funny thing 1s that the murder had split the camp into
two parts. nalf feel sorry for the guy and the other half are
glad. uf course, they say he was killed for embezzling Co-op
funds, but that was just talk. Nobody could prove it."

rujimoto expressed another camp reactiou with rexaird to the
attivude of the administration, a reaction very typical of camp
psychology:

"The people are saying that the Administration is deliberately
not making a serious attempt to tind the murderer. .f the people

think that the murderer is loose in camp, more of them will want
to relocate."

1ibid., ouly 18, 1944, p. 1.

2ibid., wuly 24, 1944, p. 2.
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He added that he had been snooping in the project attorney's

office and seen an enormous sheet of applications for leave
clearance.,l TWhatever he may have seen, there was no appreciable
increase of applications at this time.

The Yamaguchi's expressed a very interesting and delicate
sentiment:

“The people are very quiet about it, Mr, Hitomi is dead;
so the people are quiet. If they aren't quiet they may go to
jail. They say, 'Well, he's passed away. After all, he's s
Buddha now. Let him sleep peacefully.' It used to be he had a
very bad reputation. DBut since he's passed away the people don't
say much, It wouldn't be good manners,"2

Mr, Abe showed a change of heart about a month after the murder:

"Of course, Mr, Hitomi was one of the most hated men in camp,
But he wasn't bad enough to be assassinated. I heard that Hitomi
signed a petition to send the people in the stockade away (to
Santa Fe) ,d

1t is not improbable that some of the apprehension which
began to manifest itself at this time was due to the incautious
remarks of certain members of the undercover pressure group who
took the opportunity of exploiting the murder by hinting that
somewhere within their group was the impetus for the deed.
Whether the group was in any way implicated or not, many people,
including the authorities, suspected that they were. It's members
spared no effort in pointing out that the murder was a glaring
example of Administrative ineptitude. The remarks of Mr, Yamashita,

who was an important leader of the group, are typical of this

propaganda;

"I think as soon as the attacks which ended with the murder....
temporarily ended for the time being, the effect on the oppressed
minds of the people was to a more or less optimistic viewpoint.

livid., July 17, 1944, p. 1.
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Especlally since the action was successful and the Administration
was not able to find the attacker.,"

Mrs. Yamashita remarked here with satisfaction, "It was a
perfect crime." Her husband continued:

"Feople were sorry for the victim, but the camp as a whole,
if they did not rejoice for such a happening, when they thought
that was the last resort or last step to be taken to let the
public and the Administration know that wrong doing cannot continue
forever. Deep thinking people do not think the choosing of thils
barberous action is wise and think that it would be more or less
eriticized by the American public when it is known outside by
the paper or radio."

"But the condition of this camp was such that they were
forced to use such a method. It was more or less 1n the atmosphere
of the camp that they were forced to use such a method,"l

While Mr, Hitoml's evil reputation was not noticeably miti-
gated by the passage of time, the camp sentiment toward the murder
and the apprehension of the murderer underwent a marked change
after the passage of three or four months, Many people began to
refer to the murder as a deplorable thing, stating that after all,
nobody had ever proved anything against Hitoml and that, moreover,
other individuals in camp were far more objectionable than he.

The satisfaction over the fact that the murderer was not apprehended

dwindled also and though the sentiment was far from unanimous,

many residents cautiously expressed the hope that the murderer
might be taken. On the whole, only the pressure group remained
unchanged in its contention that the murderer was a type of
public benefactor and openly re joiced over his non-apprehension,
Camp sentiment as to why the murder was committed was never
uniform., Some people held to the view that Hitoml was mardered
because he was a dog, others that the slaying was a private affair,
committed by a man with whose wife Hitomi was supposed to have

philandered.
libig., July 28, 1944, p. 1.




It has already been mentioned but should be reemphasized that
the most important soclologlcal effect of the murder was that it
served as a prophylactic (word OK?) shock to the unhealthy
psychological obsession with inu. Never afterwards did the
writer hear denunciation of current inu-like activities comparable
to those which preceded the murder, except from members of the
pPressure group, who were not representative of general camp
sentiment. It was correctly assumed that henceforth nobody would
have the temerity to engage in any activity which remotely assisted
the Administration. The writer is of the opinion that the tragedy
did cut informing to a minimum. In any case, "Remember Hitomi"
became a camp watchword.

Actlons of the Administration

Immediate suspicion of implication in the murder fell upon
the fourteen men still detained in the stockade. All ingoing mail
to the stockade was stopped and large pieces of plaster board were
attached to that portion of the stockade which faced the colony
so that no slgnals could be exchanged. Gate number 23 tqﬁugh
which persons had heretofore passed in and out of the colony was
closed and gate number 3, which was located several hundred yards
farther from the stockade was used instead. The object again was
to keep camp residents as far from the stockade as possible. The
change in gates gave rise to much complaint from the school teachers
who were oblired to walk several blocks out of theis way to geuv to
work. The stockade internees were given to understand by Mr. Best
and by certain members of the Internal Security that they were
under susplclon of having directed a conspiracy within the center

to murder Mr. Hitomi. This accusation made them very indignant.l

libig., Sept. 15, 1944, p. 8; Sept. 18, p. 10.




The Administration also suggested to the block managers that
a camp-wide curfew be enforced. The block managers refused to
accept the responsibility for this act and suggested that it be
referred to the people. The people were by no means enthusiastic
about 1t and the matter was dropped. A block manager gave his
reactions

"At the time of the murder the situation was so grave that
the WRA called a block manager's meeting and suggested we have
block meetings to decide whether the residents wanted a curfew
for protection. The block managers could not decide and accept
that suggestlion because the proposition was too important for the
block managers to decide whether such matter should be brought
back to the block for consultation. As far as I can see the
colonists and block managers have nothing to do with such import-
ant matters. In other words, we have no authority and power to
made decisions. Of course, some blocks may need a curfew for
protection but perhaps other blocks do not want it. It appeared
to me at the meetlng that the block managers felt that the resi-
dents do not want it -- probably past experience."l

From second hand information gained chiefly from Dr. Opler
and Mr, Robertson, it appeared that the Administration had two
theories about the murder. One was that already mentioned:
that the detainees had conspired with some group in the center.
Two separate groups in the center came under suspicion: one was
the so-called Resegregation Group and the other was the group
purportedly headed by lir. Tsuda. Both groups had been working
for the release of the detalnees for many months, The motive
in this case would be a deliberate attempt on the part of these
groups to embarrass the Administration and particularly Mr, Best

ot A
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by/down s¢ much adverse publicity upon his head that he would be
forced to resign. The second theory, said to have been espoused
by Mr, Best and lir., Schmidt, was that the murder was s personal

affair, committed by only one man well known to Mr,., Hitomi.

livia., July 24, 1944, p. s.




Schmidt's reasoning was that Hitomi would have cried out and
been heard, had he been approached by a stranger or a strange
group. The motive in this case would be revenge for a personal
injury, i. e., that Hitomi had been killed by the husband of some

woman with whom he had been philandering. Later, this theory was

directed against Mr. Hitomi's brother, with whose wife Hitomi was

rumored to have had immoral relations., The fact that the brother
did not accompany Hitomi's corpse to the hospltal was conslidered
very suspicious. The befuddled atmosphere whlich prevalled at
this time is well exemplified by the following statement made by
Lr, Oplers

"Their (Administration) 1ideas on "Who-done-it" are the funnie st
things you ever heard. They have a new and opposite theory every
day.

"A lot of the colony thinks one group paid off another group
to do this. They talk as vaguely as they dare, but they say as
much as they dare along that line. Xou get the impression that
the leadership in the group that was behind it is older and they
kept behind the scene and had a younger group do the killing., It
was an expert job.,"

Another member of the Administration who was present added:

"All the Administration is talking about on the Hitomi killing
is that it was a personal affair and that all the evidence points
to Hitomi's brother as the culprit,"l

Mr, Best went so far as to call on "K", with whom he had
become well acquainted at Leupp and ask him for information on
the murder. According to Mr, Robertson, "K" retorted that Mr,., Best
ought to know who committed the murder and added that he (K) was
unable to understand how all this could go on and the Administra-
tion not be aware of it.2 "K" is also supposed to have admitted

at thls intervliew that he knew who was responsible for the murder,

lipid., July 20, 1944, p. 5.
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but the writer doubts this,

On July 13 it was rumored that four Japanese had been taken
from the colony and were being given a twenty-four hour third
degree by the Internal Security. So far as is known, no informa-
tion was gained from them. 1he grilling was reported to lir, Besig
of the American Civil Liberties Union. This action on the part
of the administration was not approved of by those Japanese who
expressed themselves on the subject:

K said:

"Several boys from Leupp were investigated., But the good
thing was that they were released lmmedlately. If they had been
put into the stockade, the Administration would have been doing
a great injustice. They were very studious boys. One of the
boys was taken just because the Administration thought he was a
fanatic. That was no reason."

Mr, Yamaguchi said:

"I heard those boys were grilled for three days and nights.
One of them was Kitadani, a tough kid. We used to call him the
'dead end kid' in Leupp. He was grilled because they found him

with a knife."2

Another result of the Hitomi murder was the appearance of

MT..Wﬂﬁﬁlﬁé, the special investigator for Mr. Ickes. This gentle-

man talked to Japanese and Caucasians. What he accomplished is
not known. He did, however, start several rumors in the center,
elther because he was not too circumspect in his questions or
remarks or because his statements were misinterpreted by the
Japanese to whom he spoke. The most powerful of these rumors was
that the camp was to be dlvided into three sections because 1t
was too large for one man to control. The clearest expression of
this particulgr rumor came from Mr. Abe, with whom the writer

E e
suspects Mr. ekase talked:

livia., July 19, 1944. p. 1.
2ipid., July 13, p. 1.




"There 1s a rumor that the Administration is trying to divicée
the camp into three groups. A man asked my opinion about it, He
said this camp 1s too large to be controlled under the same Adminis-
tration, So I told him, "No matter how big the camp may be, if
the policy of the Administration is based upon justice, it can be
controlled, Even if it 1is divided into three or a dozen groups,
if the Adminigstration plays monkey business, no peace will be
established."l

Five months later, Mr. "L" of the Department of Justice told
P VWA ar A
the wrlter that War¥reee had apparently made some very unwise state -
ments and promises to the Japanese at the time of his visit. He

(#addmee ) was later found to be on the verge of a nervous break-

down at the time of his stay in Tule Lake .2

Attitudes of the Administration

The murder plunged the Caucasian residents of Tule Lake into
a state which in some indlividuals bordered closely on panic. One
of the manifestations of this was a meeting held by the Caucasian
members of the Co-op where it was proposed that canteen number 4
be severed from the Japanese Co-operative knterprises, This was
not done.

For many weeks the staff members remained very Jjittery.
Some expected snother murder and the subject of who would be next
was frequently discussed among those members of the staff who had
contact with the colony. Mr. Robertson believed that those of
the ex-members of the Co-ordinating Committee who had remained
in the colony were in a very precarious position. Mr. Shimada

and Mr. Namekawa were at this time working on the Newell Star, an

unpopular activity. Messrs. Nakao, Okamoto and Naldo were also
mentioned as possible victims. Incidentally, several intelligent

Japanese also expected another murder, parZticularly if the men
1

ibid., July 24, 1944, p. 1.
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ad fled the coleny returned K. went so far as to 38 vl

more incident, The administratior is at

"There will be one
£ he

If that incident devefors as T santicipete, I fee]l that
the administration mskes an abswlute change ,
the killinge will continue,) Now it's beyond d&he
Things have gone too far,

state where unlesgs

beat ings and
admipistration's power to contrel it,
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M—WHWM.CI?LW. Robertson was of the
opinion that the murder had been a deliberate attempt t o discredit
Mr, Best. Mr. Best, however, according to all reports had espoused
the theory that the murder resulted from a personal quarrel. The
names on the "black-lists" were not limited to Japanese. Messrs.
Best, Black, Schmidt, Huycke, and Kirkman were rumored to be
gracing some of the lists.!

The tense attitude of the staff members was well exemplified
by an incident which occurred in the presence of the writer. On
July 14, during an informal visit at the home of Dr. Opler, at
which Mr. Robertson was also present, a car drew up outside.
Mr. Bagley the head of social welfare, was driving. He sda @ he
had been told to go to messhall 16 with his camera. Robertson
and Opler became quite excited and Robertson called Internal
Security for information. They knew nothing. Thereupon Robertson
and Opler accompanied Bagley into the center. When they arrived
at messhall 16 they found several Internal Security cars already
there "to investigate the report." The affair proved to be a
farewell dinner given by the evacuee staff of the Reports O0ffice
to Mr, Markley who was leaving the project. DBagley had been sent
in to take pictures.2

another somewhat amusing Caucasian fear sprang from the fact
that the so-called inu were living outside the fence in the hospital.
Certain of the more timid female members of the personnel spoke
openly of their fear that Japanese, bent on murdering the inu,

might come out of the colony at night and murder some of the Cau-

casians by mistake. This idea, suffice it to say, was not widespcad.3
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In spite of the grievous state of the Co-operative Enter-
prises, the high ranking members of the personnel were reported
to be delaying the issuance of the patronage dividend. The writer
has no information on their reasons for this policy and it is
poseible that they were well grounded. The informant was Mr.
Runcorn,l

Japanese attitudes on the "inu" who fled camp.

The treatment meted out to the "dogs" by their fellow
Japanese surpassed in cruelty anything the writer has ever wit-
nessed. Whlle some of the residents held to the view that some o
the men who fled were not suspected and should not have left camp,
the prevalling attitude was one of indescribable satisfaction
over every inconvenience and humiliation heaped upon these unpopu-
lar men. Few opportunities to heap additional humilisastion upon
them were ignored. The more the inu suffered, the better the
people felt. They were housed in the hospital, and the Japanese
hospital mess crew refused to feed them. The Japanese workers in
the hospital would not sit down to eat with dogs. They were then
instructed to eat in the Caucasian mess hall. The Japanese mess
crew here promptly refused to feed them. One of the suspected
individuals complained to the writer:

"And Nr. Akitsuki got that cook (the head chef) his job.

The Caucasians didn't want any Japanese cooks or waltresses, but
Mr. Akitsukl convinced them they should have them,"2

The unfortunate refugees were at length forced to eat in
one of the warehouses where facilities for cooking were set up
for them by the Administration. Mr. Tateishi acted as cook. A
rumor promptly sprang up that pressure was being brought on Mr.

Tateishi to poison them,

1ibid., July 12, 1944, p. 3.
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Whenever any of them walked about the Caucasian area in day-
light they were likely to be greeted by barking noises from the
Japanese employed in the area.

Some of the refugees were utterly terrified. The writer,
having contacts in the group, called on a friend residing in the
hospital and saw them sitting silently, staring at the walls,
doing nothing. They were at this time under considerable pressure
from Mr. Best to return to the center, a step which some of them
regarded as a death sentence. wr. Akitsuki, showing great courage,
dld return to the colony after several weeks., However, he left
his family and took up residence with a group of Judo boys who
were reported to have sworn to be ready to give their lives for
him. He also acquired two large dogs, an act which was commented
upon wlth maliclious relish by some of the evacuees. All of the
remaining men and their families eventually returned with the
exception of Messrs. Yamatani, Tateishi and Shimokon who were
transferred to other centers, <vThose who returned to the center
met varying receptions, depending largely upon how they had been
regarded before the murder. Some of the Co-op Board members were
reported to have established themselves satisfactorily in their
blocks. Mr. Akitsuki and Mr. Takahashi, however, remained symbols
of despicable treachery and continued to live miserable pariah-
like lives. Nobody in camp "who knew them for what they were"
would talk with them or be seen with them. So powerful was this

sentiment that for six months after the murder, even the writer

would not have jeopardized her standing in the colony by calling

upon them. It 1s interesting that the writer never came upon an

example where any discrimination or cruelty was meted out against




the families of these unpopular men. Their wives many have
suffered social ostracism but the wrlter never heard that their
children were taunted by other children because their fathers

were inu,

A generally widespread attitude was expressed by K; who also
analyzed the errors 1ln judgment made by the members of the Co-
ordinating Committee:

"Akitsuki is not wise in coming back. If he wants to continue
to breath it's better that he stays out. Many of those boys (Co-
ordinating Committee Group) were too arrogant., If they had lis-
tened to the voice of the people, they wouldn't be in trouble now,

"They didn't stop to think. They were just getting in well
with the administration. Especially those in the Co-op, that
bunch of gamblers and embezzlers. They were sitting in high
offices. They shouldn't have held those positions. They did not
stop to think that there were many well educated persons who were
not working in the Co-op but were far more capable, . . .

"They dldn't have the character strong enough to refuse.
They went ahead and co-operated with the Administration. Little
by little they were dragged into the mire until they couldn't get
out any more."l

About a month after the murder when some of the refugees
had still not yet returned to camp, Mr. Robertson called on K,
and asked him for his opinion on whether it was safe for them to
return, K. repeated his reply to the writer:

"Mr. Robertson asked me about sending the people back. I

said, some are all right but some shouldn't be back even for a

day. I told him Yamatanl won't live very long (if he returns).“2

During thils period several moderate individuals expresses

regret that some of the suspected men had ewen been)f oolish

enoughh to flee from camp. In their opinion, it would have been

libid., July 20, 1944, p. 2.
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far better if they had stayed and not given such obvious ground
for suspicion to their nelghbors. Mr. Takahashi, in particular,
was thought to have made a great error by. fleeing.

When however, three of the most unpopular men transferred
to other centers, most residents were happy about it. A few
remarked with satisfaction that they would be hated and desplsed
in the other centers also. Mrs. Q. an active agitator, expressed
disappointment, insinuating that it would have been preferable to
have them stay and meet the same fate as Hitomi,.l

After Akitsukl returned to the colony, K. expressed himself
as followss

"But those people (the inu) who may return - I don't think
they could contrive to sleep without worries. The longer Akltsukl
maintains bodyguards, the longer he'll be hated. If he lived alone
the people might forget. Getting bodyguards was a very sghort-
sighted policy."<

When he heard that the three men had left the center, K
expressed the following attitude, which was common throughout
the center:

"Yamatahl, Tateishi and Shimokon - it was wonderful that they
were transferred. That also helped to relleve a great deal of the
tension. But I feel sorry for them; they're branded for good.
People from Tule are writing to Minldoka, telling thelr friends
all about them,"5

RESULTS OF THE OKAMOTO VERDICT

The release of the Court martial verdict in the case of the

soldier who shot Shoichi Okamoto on May 24, followed closely on

the Hitoml murder. The institution of proceedings was announced

in the Newell Star of July 6, 1944:

livid., Aug. 16, 1944, p. 2.

ibid., Aug. 7, 1944, pp. 3-4.
'R, Hankey, Notes, Aug. 21, 1944, p. 1l.




Shoichi Okamoto Case

SENTRY FACES COURT MARTIAL HERe TODAY

Court martial proceedings for the sentry, who fatally shot
Shoichi James Okamoto on May 24, commenced today at the military
area here, announced the Administration. Officers from other
military posts have been detailed here to conduct the court martlal,

Although it 1s contrary to military rules for any civilian
to be present at a military court martial, exceptions were made
in this case. Arrangements were made by Dillon S. NMyer, national
director of WRA, with the War Department so that eight residents
of the center may be present at the proceedings. Among those
attending today will be a member of the Okamoto family and repre-
sentatives of the committee of Japanese nationals which will make
a report covering the case to the Spanish Embassy.

Representatives of the WRA project staff and Edgar Bernhard,
WRA attorney from San Francisco Hegional Office will also be
present. °

The soldier was acquitted. Unfortunately very few attitudes
were obtalned because the state of tension in the camp, brought
about by the murder, made visiting almost impossible. On extremely
incomplete evidence it appears as if the acquittal of the soldier
caused extreme resentment in some individuals. With others it was
received cynically, as all that might be expected of the American
government, NO action was taken by the residents, although some
dreadful threats are rumored to have been made by hot-headed indivi-
duals., K. an extremely idealistic individual said:

"The unfavorable verdict on Okamoto's case will be a ground
for further killing. “The resentment will be great. It wlll know
no bound, therefore 1t will be my advice that all should be care-
ful. Slightest suspicion will be magnified manifold and the poor
suspect will in course of time be beaten or killed. (K. referred
here to suspicion against the inu.) Therefore, too intimate a
friendship with any Caucasian will be dangerous. Explanation will
not help. It will only tend to add greater resentment . . .

"The American laws are born out of Congressional incubator
turned out by the thousands to suit the occasion which benefit
themselves. 1 would rather live among the barbarians than among
the hypocritical, selfish, everything-for-myself Americans. Their
laws are mockery to civilization. They can shoot and kill an
innocent man for no reason whatever and be acquitted, as pronounced
by the Court martial freeing rFvt. Bernard Goe who shot Shoichi
Okamoto on May 24 . . . «




"The resentment over this very unfavorable verdict is great.
Wny shouldn't it be? To kill a man just because he was afraid of
nim is no excuse, yet the officers have acquitted the sentry. A
cowardly shooting and f shameless verdict, That 1s America, a
hypoeritical America."

Undoubtedly many individuals felt as bitterly as this, although
they would not express themselves as frankly. A4 nisei girl said:

"There were very harsh reactions (to the acquittal). 1t was
very shocking and disappointing news. It seemed so unfair and
unjust,"?

Another nisei girl of very conservative point of view said:

"he verdict was kind of expected. They knew the result before
they even started. All those things are whitewashed."

VISIT OF MR. BLSIG, REPRESENTATIVE OF THE AVE RICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES

UNION

The phenomenon of Japanese, avowedly disloyal to the United
States calling upon their Constitutionsal rights as cltizens was
regarded as pecullar by many members of the appointed personnel.
In fact, this action was probably adopted only as a measure of
last resort. The Spanish Consul had not shown himself either
able or willing to assist the men imprisoned in the stockade and
the WRA appeared ready to keep them there for the remainder of
the camp's existence. A Japanese named Okamoto took the initiative
in the center, organlzed the relatives of the detainees, raised
a fund, and wrote the ACLU in San Francisco for assistance. The
attitudes of two of the detainees themselves are given below:

"At first we had no idea as to whom we should hire as a
lawyer., We did have a feeling that the last thing we could do as
a citizen of the United States, we could hire ourselves a lawyer
to defend ourselves, The thought came to our mind at the time
WRA announced the nisel in the stockade would be sent to Leupp
and branded as troublemakers, We thought at that time, 1f weare

to be sent to Leupp as such, we want to clear ourselves of that
accusation.

ims. July 20, 1944, pp. 4, S.
<R. Hankey, Notes, July 18, 1944, p. 2.
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"If the WRA or the state department had permitted us to con-
sult with the Spanish Consul, the thought might never have arisen,
But they definitely denied us to see the Spanish Consul because
we were citizens of the United States.

“But we thought if we were citizens of the United States we
have a Constitutional right to defend ourselves. That was the
first thought which came to our minds., Later on it developed
that the lawyer who was asked to defend us through the American
Civil Liberties Union put the idea to a committee of families.
As to the actual hiring of the attorney, we don't know anything
about it.

“Off the record, 1 think that the trial would not have come
up anyway. 4 thing which would be a detIiment to the prestige of
the United States would not be allowed."

“That was instituted by the people in the colony, especially
by mr, Okamoto. He suggested it.

"All along we knew what the Administration was doing toward
us was an invasion of our Constitutional Rights. 4ll1 our mail
was censored. We could not initiate anything like that (calling
a lawyer).

“From the very beginning, I've malntained that anything we

have done wasn't any too radical or against our Uonstitutional
rights. As chairman of the Committee L conducted the job in a
correct manner. And the job was difficult because the people
didn't understand."?

FIRST VISIT

Mr, Besig, the representative of the ACLU arrived on the pio-
ject about a week after the murder of Hitomi., His arrival at
this time was most unfortunate, for his investigation and inter-
views were greatly handicapped by the fact that the adminlistration,
was buslly engaged in the attempt to solve the murder and found
his presence exceedingly irritating. At first he was refused
permision to visit Tule Lake as is shown by the following letter
he sent to Mr, Ckamoto, the Japanese who is credited with having

organized the relatives of the detainees to appeal to the ACLU,

libid., Sept. 18, 1944, p. 2.
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I regret to inform you that Mr. Robert B. Cozzens, assistant
director of the WeR.A. here in San Francisco, has denied my request
for a permit to visit Tule Lake during the week of June 12. At
first he stated there would be no difficulty about my visiting
Tule Lake and suggested that 1 go ahead and make train reservations.
After conferring with Mr, Best and Mr, Myer, however, he informed
me that the request was belng turned down because of a "Tense situa-
tion" that persists at Tule Lake. I have made representations to
Mr. Myer by telegram, and have presented the matter to Mr, Ickes
in an alr mail letter.

I think it would do no harm for you to write to Mr, Cozzens
if you limit yourself to a simple request that you be permitted
to consult personally with me as a representative of the American
Civil Liberties Union to the end of securing court action in your
behalf. Such a request can at least do no harm.

As a result of the administration's actlion, I will apparently
be compelled to develop our projected test cases by mail. I will
write you further at some later date.,

As for loss of property, 1 would say that as a legal matter
there 1s liabllity. As Judge LDenman suggested in the Korematsu
case, however, there is a certain moral obligation, and Congress
should at an appropriate time set aside funds to compensate the
evacuees for the losses they have suffered.

ss Ernest Besig.

Since lr., Beslig's object was to investigate the stockade
situation, his presence would not have been welcome at any time,
Arriving at a period of unparalleled tension, when the administra-
tion was making every effort to keep contacts away from the detain-
ees, he was received in a manner which enraged him, Hls first
action was to interview the relatives of the detainees, the wives

of the men, Miss Terada, and some of the released detalnees. These

meetings were arranged by Mr. Okamoto who had played the leading

part in bringing Beslig to Tule Lake. Next Besig asked Mr. Best

to be allowed to talk to the men in the stockade. Mr. Warren, the
man assigned to assist Besig around the project was a good friend
of the writer's and consequently, the data available is umusually
good. When Beslg arrived at the stockade, he was stopped by

Mr., Mahrt, a member of Internal Security, who insisted that a




policeman accompany him and listen to his conversation with the
detainees, Deslig objected. Mahrt telephoned Mr. Leckliter, the
Project Attorney, who sald that the presence of a policeman was
necessary and 1s reported to have added, "The Administration does
not want an outsider murdered." Besig shouted in a loud voice,
clearly audible to the detalnees, that he had come down to inter-
view the detalned men and not a cop, and that he wasn't going to
be bossed around by any cop. He then telephoned Mr. Best but
received no satisfaction. He returned to the stockade and began
to talk to the detalnees, telling them that under the circumstance
he would not have much to say, since they could not converse freely

with a policeman present. At this point Mr, Leckliter drove up.

He rushed in and said, "What's the matter now?" Besig explained.

He was not, however, allowed to see the detainees in private.

Warren added:

"I heard Marht tell the policeman who was present to listen.
1 think the lack of co-operation was on the part of Mahrt and not
Best. They had instructed Besig not to mention anything about
the murder since 1t was thelr impression that the murder had been
initiated from the stockade."

Besig then proceded to talk to Mr, Best, Leckiiter, Schmidt,
Besig's stenographer and the writer's informant were present.
All of the conversation was handled by Mr. Leckliter. Neither
lir. Best nor lMn ochmidt said much. Leckliter said that if Besig
wanted te do any work at all, he would have to conform to the
requirements put upon him, 1. e., not talk about the murder,
Besig replied, "That's an admission that you listened to my con-
versation." Leckliter said, "We're carrying on an investigation
of a murder. I must have an agreement." Beslg replied, "What I

talk about 1s my own business." Leckliter protested and Besig

added, “You shut your damn big mouth. You may be able to push




these Japs around, but you can't push me around. I'll do what I
please." DBesig is also supposed to have told Leckliter that he
couldn't be an honest man if he worked for the WRA, that he was
an upstart and a nincompoop. At 8:15 on the following morning
(July 12) while Mr. Besig was at breakfast, Mr. Best's secretary
told him that Mr. Best wished to see him. About 20 minutes later,
Warren found Besig packing his sultcase. He had been told that he
must leave the project because his conversation in the stockade
had interfered with the investigation of the murder. Besig said
that since he'd had an appointment with a Japanese doctor in the
colony whom he had not been able to see the day before his e jection
from the project "was an infringement of the right to demand council
and he was going to make one sweet stink about it."

Warren continued:

"Afterwards, EBlack called me to Dest's office and Best said
he had requested him to leave because he had asked one of the men
in the stockade, "Do you think Hitomi's murder was engineered from
the stockade?" Actually, the woman's notes (Besig's stenographer)
had sald he had asked the fellow if he knew the murder had occurred.

"Best saild that he was very much disgusted about the whole
thing. 'They couldn't have sent a worse representative. We both
want to see the same things accomplished, but the first words he
(Besig) said to me were, "I'm going to get in your hair." He
never left up on this attitude for one minute. He refused to show
even a normal decent courtesy.'"

Several Caucasian informants definitely sympathetic to the
cause of the ACLU, who had the opportunity to observe Mr. Besig's

contact with the higher members of the Appointed Fersonnel and to

talk with him personnaly remarked that his attitude was unneces-

sarily tactless and belligerent. &n intelligent young school-

teacher of strong liberal leanings stated:
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"I have a strong impression of his not knowlng how to go
about his job. He alienated people . . I think he hurt the cause.
His impression of this place seemed to be such a quickly gained,
rather personal impression. He acted as if everybody were out
to get him and was making it hard for him. . .

"i didn't go about finding the facts in any sclentific way. .
When Miss 4 (a school teacher) was telling him what happened
November 4th, he continually reading things 1nto what she saild.,
. « . He led her to say what he wanted. . . He was so proud of
the way he was brave that he went out of his way to show it at
the expense of the cause."l

) s ton ATV R

"He's got guts but that's about all he's got. I myself felt
he had failed to use tact and diplomacy. My own impression was
that his getting kicked out was highly satisfactory to him and he
felt he was getting a weapon by 1t."2

Warren was distinctly leftist in his convictions and was,
himself, one of the most tactless men the wrlter has ever known,

On the evening of July 12 Mr. Leckliter attended a meetling
of the relatives of the detained men which was held in the center.
Mr, Okamoto presided. Leckliter's task was to answer questions.
Warren described the meeting:

"Oxamoto asked Leckliter to explain the "kicking out" of the
attorney. Leckliter said he hadn't been kicked out but had been
requested to leave. Jlhe adminlistration could not allow anyone to
interfere with the murder investigation. He stated that WRA had
called Mr, Besig's boss in New York, Mr., Baldrin, and Baldrin
had saild that besig had not come under his authority.

"Those present wanted to know why they couldn't visit the
people in the stockade. Leckliter said they (the detainees) were
trouble-makers and that the Administration couldn't allow visits
except on their own discretion. Very little visiting was going
to be allowed.

"I was surprised at the extent with which Leckliter was frank
with the people as to what had occurred. He sald there were two
major reasons that the administration didn't want Besig here at
this time. One was that people had come to Best and said that
they had been threatened with bodily harm unless they agreed to
see Mr, Beslg., The second was the killing,

"When Leckliter sald they expected to solve the murder in a




week or two the woman they call the gueen of the colony (Mrs. o)
and others exchanged glances of conslderable amusement . "1

On July 1l4th Mr, Besig released a statement to the newspapers:

He stated that the detainees had been kept in the stockade
for eight months and during that time were not allowed contact
with theilr families and had been denied legal council. A statement
by WRA appeared in the same issue of the paper denying the fact
that the men had been denied legal council. Leckliter 1is said
to have intimated that Besig erred in his statement and that he
should have said, "legal council of their own choice." lioreover,
sald Leckliter, "These men whom Beslg had contacted had expressed
their loyalty to Japan." "That doesn't make any difference," saild
Warren, who was present, “You yourself have stated that an announce-
ment of intention to repatriate had nothing to do with a citizens'
obligatlons and privileges,"Z

This visit of Mr. Besig's caused surprisingly little stir in
the center. Opler stated that storles about besig were all over

the colony, that he was greatly admired, and that his visit had

probably decreased the "anti-CUaucasian feeling."3 K. however,

probably expressed a more common attitude:

"Everybody experienced disappointment on that. They were
disappointed because the attorney was not allowed tc see the men
individually. :hat created some handlicap toward expressing their
opinions (of detainees). I wish he would put up a fight so that
the American public will be informed of the facts."

1ibid., July 14, 1944, pp. 1-2. This term "queen of the colony"
was applied to Mrs. "Q" only by the appointed personnel who greatly
exaggerated her influence in the center.

2ibid., July 14 p. 1.
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K. added, that even if the facts were made known, probably
most americans would not be influvenced. A few, perhaps, might be .t
When, however, several weeks later, the ACLU publication

(get name) appeared with its sensational denunciation of the
it
administration at Tule Lake,/produced an understandable reaction

of appreciation and glee. K. said:

"The people are very much re joiced over the American Civil
Liberties Union which grote up the strong article regarding the
tyranny at Tule Lake,"<

An anti-status quo nisei girl commented upon the article,
adding:

"Naturally, people got suspicious when lr. Best chased lir.
Besig out. People want them given a fair trial. They feel they've
been in there ten months and have served their sentence. If they've
served their sentence they should be left free,"d

On July 17, Mr. Besig sent the following letter to Wr. Yoshiyama
one of the detainees:
Tom Yoshiyamas

in our opinion, your detention for over 8 months in the Stockade
without charges being filed agalnst you, and without belng brought
before a magistrate ought to be tested in the courts. We have
presented the entire problem most fully in a letter to Mp, Ickes,
but in the event that the release of all 18 is not ordered promptly
by him, we would suggest the filing of an application for a writ
of habeus corpus in the U, S. District Court in behalf of one of
you, possibly yourself.

We are also entering a complaint with the Post Office Lepartment
agalnst the censorship of the mails, for which we can find no basis
in law.

Our presence at the Center was brought to a sudden end early
Wedne sday morning, July 12, when Mr. Best ordered our immediate
departure, on the ground that our presence was interfering with
the investigatlion of the recent murder.

Would you please let me have your prompt response to our
suggestion,
Ernest Besig.

libid., July 20, 1944, p. 1.
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The following reports on stockade conditions were sent to
Mr, Collins, attorney for the ACLU on Mr. Besig's request.

1805-B, Tule Lake Center
Newell, California
August 20, 1944

Attorney Wayne Collins
Mills Tower
San Francisco, California

Dear Sir:

Mr, Hiroyoshl Tsuda of Bloeck 30, Tule Lake Center, showed me
a letter of recent date sent by Mr. Brnest Besig, Counselor of the
American Civil Liberties Union of Northern California. Mr, Besig
requested that Mr, Tsuda write to you and explain in details the
conditlons of the Stockade of this Center. Mr. Tsuda in turn asked
me to do the same.

I was an inmate of the Stockade myself. Having spent a few
months with MMr, Tsuda, I was requested by him to write to you,
describing the conditions of the Stockade, covering the period
since his release in April up to the time of my release, which
was July 22, 1944, ~aturday. I presume Mr, Besig has a detalled
report of the Stockade during lr, Tsuda's confinement; therefore,
I will circumscribe my report from April to July 22 of this year.
I might also add that 1 was arrested on January 6, 1944 and impri-
soned for 199 days.

Size of Stockade and Barracks

The size of the Stockade was about 220' x 350'., There were
six barracks and one mess hall and kitchen bullding. DBarracks
were of the same size as those occupled by the evacuees in

the Colony, 20 x 100, but without partitions. Lach barrack
was one large dormitory with two coal stoves for heating
purposes and 12 windows to each side. These barracks were .
numbered A to F. One half of Barrack F was used for latrine
and shower, the other half, living quarters. Barbed wire
fence was approximately 10 feet from the building on both
ends.

Lighting of Barracks

bagrrack A had one row of lights in the center, which was
poor. bBarracks B, C, U, E end—&x had two rows of lights;
hence, better than Parrack 4.

Sleeping Accommodations

At one tlme, there were over 260 inmates in the Stockade,
distributed among all barracks; however, that was when the
Army was in charge of the Stockade. On May 23, 1944, the
WRA took charge of the Stockade officially and formally.




Lt. Shaner with his staff, accompanied by Mr, dMahrt, Internal
Security Officer, and his staff entered the Stockade at roll
call time, which was 1:00 p. m. dally, and formally announced
the change of supervision as of that date. There were about
180 in the Stockade. Barrack I had been vacated previous to
May 23, the men having taken thelr beds to other barracks
according to the cholce of each. Army cots with four blankets
were provided to each. Men were released from time to time,
which gave us more space. Although the number occupying the
barracks were not even, Lt. Shaner kept a complete record of
occupants of each barrack and redistributed the population
nicely. By July 18, 1944, there were 18 of us left. About

2 o'clock in the afternoon of the 18th, eight or more men
accompanied by Mr. Marht came into the Stockade and ordered
all of us to move into Barrack A, nailing up all the barracks.
The next morning, July 19, the only two lssel or first-genema -
tion Japanese were released about 4:00 p., m. in the afternoon
and another was released, a Nisel; that left only 15. I was
still there.

Reason for Arrest and Confinement: Trial and Sentences

No reason was ever given to me for my arrest. There were

two or three occasions when I was glven what was known as a
'Hearing' at which time, WRA officials asked me all sorts

of questions. The reason for my arrest was never made known,
I was kept 1n the Stockade under these circumstances without

trial and sentence. JLlays of release was never certain at amy
time which kept us guessing.

Precautlon agalnst Lscape

Food

F

There were four towers located on each corner of the Stockade
just outside of the fence and armed guards were stationed on
each 24 hours a day. The fence was about 8' high with barbed
wire extension., There was only one gate and each time, any
of us were taken out te go for our food or to the office for
varlous business, there was a guard standing at the gate and
several Internal Securlty Officers attending.

cod was not any too good up to May 23rd; however, 1t was
enough and of such quality to sustain us. On May 23 when
the WRA took over, we noticed a sudden change for betterment
of our dally food supply. unlike the time when the Army was
in charge, WRA supplied us food for few days in advance and
in number of cases, for instance, coffee and flour, we were
glven a sack each, which was sufficient for a week or more.
As far as food was concerned, we believe they gave the
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Letters and Packages

As far as I am concerned, cigarettes were rationed up to

May 23rd because the army was in charge of the Stockade up

to that date. WRA, however, told us that they saw no reason
why our clgarettes and tobaccoes should be restricted inasmuch
as we bought them with our own money.

and Letters

All mail, both incoming and outgoing, were censored by the
. Army while they were in charge, and by the WRA when they
took charge of the otockade.

All in all, all of us behaved very nicely and obeyed all
orders whatever they were. Our mess hall and kitchen were kept
in good sanitary condition., We took turns in keeping the latrines
and shower room immaculately clean. Our barracks were swept and
mopped sach morning. For recreation our friends in the Center
sent us balls, volley balls, and gloves. These were the only
means of outdoor recreation,

To the best of my knowledge and belief, 1 have given a fair
account of the living conditions, etec., during the time of my
conf'inement in the stockade. t

Very truly yours,

ss/ LErnest Kozuma

Additional description of Stockade life - ushita to Yamamoto - August 22 1944

EXISTED CONUITIONS IN THE STOCKALE DURING MY CONFINEME NI' THERE

The Military Stockade was constructed for the purpose of
confining so-called "alleged" agitators apprehended after the
November riot.

1l shall endeavor to give true account of my experlence, during my
custody there.

Area approximated an acre and a quarter,

Maximum number of confinees 256 were confined at one time.

These things were lacking or were not furnished by the authority;
bed sheets, pillow, pillow case, tollet articles of any kind,
clothing of any type, and medicine for emergency cases.
Sanitation was considerably below par.

Sick persons were immensely neglected.

Quality of food-stuffs were not dietetical and not nourishing,
Amount of food for each person was amazingly limited.

Living quarters were badly constructed and each person was at one
time limited to only few square feet of living space.

No food stuffs from the colony was permitted, except in one occasion,
during ZAmas.




U. S. Postal mails were censored without the addressee's permission
or knowledge.

Soldiers on sentry duty, on several instances threaten or intimi-
dated the detalnees.

On January, during the midst of hunger strike, soldiers entered

our compound armed to the teeth, and unlawfully deprived us of
food-gtuffs (sent from the colony), money, clothes and other

item of personal ownershlp.

On two occasions shots were fired in the proximity of our compound.
Bodily harm was inflicted several persons without legal or rational
reason,

No liberal trall or hearing was given anyone.

A sesparate isolation compound was installed and many were sent
there to spend nights of suffering and misery for offense they

were not proven to have had committed.

OCCURRENCE LDURING HUNGER STRIKEZ

A member of the Internal Security warned us hunger strikers
that inasmuch as food is brought into the stockade they will
hold no responsibility for any one not eating. Nor will he
be sent to the hospital for treatment in time of critical
condition, resulting from the hunger strike.

Cigarettes were forbidden us for about a month.

Mail was withheld from us nor were we allowed to send out any
mail for the period of approxim tely one month,

During the mass confinement in the hospital for medical atten-
tion, we were given insufficient period of time for convales-
cence and discharged to the stockade; from the weakest person
on to the strongest among us thirteen.

ELECITION OF NeW CO-0P BUARU UF ULRECIORS

With the resignation of its Board of Uirectors, the Co-op
was left leaderless, and loaded with a burden of public opprobrium
and suspicion which surpassed that of any other organization in
the history of Tule Lagke. ¥or a time it appeared that resigna-
tions would spread wholesale throughout all the positions of the
organization. However, the appeal of a courageous group of
Japanese, who temporarily stepped into the vacancy left by‘the
resigned Board, and probably, the fact that the job was a job and

the tension was decreasing, kept most of the employees at their posts.

lrhis second hunger strike 1m described in detail in a closely
following section.




The attitude and past history of the men on the New Board wes
in sharp contrast to the old. Instead of being ultra-conserva-
tive representatives of the "vested interests" of Tule Lake, some
of these new men had been confined in the stockade during the
November difficulties, and were classed as "agitators" by the
administration, In its helplessness, however, the administration
could not be too particular about the past history of individualg,/
willing to step into a position which might cost them their lives.
Some attempts were made to get some "level headed" Japanese on
the board, by which the administration meant persons of an anti-
statua.quo conviction, However, for the most part, the policles
followed in the month which followed NMr, Hitomi's death were left
almost entirely up to the newcomers. HKuncorn, whole-heartedly
favored letting the Japanese take a major part of the control
and 1insisted, correctly, that the New Board would be much more
aggressive than the old and that it would be intelligent for the
administration to make them some concesslions:

"My whole idea is to co-operate and get the good will of the
Board. I know they're going to be a much more demanding Board.

My idea is that the administration has to maintain the initiative
but not do it in a two-fisted manner. I told Black before this
happened that he had the Co-op in a terrific nut-cracker. 1

feel we must keep the initliative by doing generous things. I
know they're going to demand."l ;

The new board did follow a more "demanding" policy, which,

in future, was ilnvariably regarded as "pressuring" by the adminis-
tration, One of the first actions of the new Board was to make
inquiries at other centers to determine how much the domestic

workers there were pald. ‘They found that the wages ran from
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38 to 40 dollars a month, At this time, Mr. Best and Mr, Black
were still demanding a wage of 30 dollars a month, The board

determined to ask for 35 or nothing. Said Mr, Runcorn:

"I can't make Mr, Black see it at all, I know that the new
Board is going to demand all sorts of things. I wish I could
persuade Mr. Best to grant this before they ask for 1t,"1

Mr, Best was not persuaded, and this particular issue was
not settled until August when Messrs. Currle, MMcNeil and Rossmen
arrived from Washington in August and managed to please both sides
by removing the domestic work from Co-op supervision and placling
it directly under the WRA placement organization.

The wrlter contacted one of the supposedly "radical" new
board members at this time and was given the followlng brief
but clear statement of policy:

"Naturally I refused the first time., But three representatives
of the bBoard of Directors came and gave me a full view of the
policy to be followed. <The present board definitely states that
they will never touch any political problems. They will keep to
their business. The present camp feelling is just walting to see
how the Co-op Board acts,"?

On July 17 Dr. Opler told the writer that some of the new
Board lMembers had taken the position because of pressure from the
old board. "They want them in there to keep things from going
screwy."o

Later serious factionalism arose in the Board because of the

PO i W I
markedly different views of some of its members.,\The personnel
of the Board was able to work out a policy which, in less than
two months, caused an almost miraculous change in the public

attitude toward the Co-op. 7The development of this policy can

be traced, to some extent in the issues of the Tule Lake Cooperator.

1
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It 1s probable that the careful and conscientious issuance of this
information was only a minor factor in the public confidence
which the ©Loard rapldly acquired. The truly significant factor
was that the DBoard did its best to live up to the statements and
promises 1t made and, little by little, as the people became
consclous of this change in policy through the tanglble changes
in the Co-op policy which affected their daily lives, they began
to pay serious attention to the statements issued.

On July 6, Mr., Runcorn released a statement on the financlal

condition of the Co-op in the Newell Star. This statement had been

prepared before Hitomi's murder and was one of the all too belated
actions decided upon when the dire plight of the Co-op finally
came to be accepted by the administration.

RUNCORN REIEASES LATEST CO-0P FINANCIAL CONDITION

E. A, Runcorn, supervisor of the Tule Lake Cooperative Enter-
prises, released a statement concerning the financlal condition
of the local Cooperative bnterprises. The account is as follows:

The latest statement shows the sound financial condition of
the Tule Lake Cooperative knterprises. The total value or assets
1s $280,000. Approximately w1l00,000 of this is owing to wholesalers;
the remaining $180,000 is the property of more than 7000 members.
mach member pald one dollar as a membership fee.

While the general condition of the Co-op is generally known
to the people who have read the officlal audits issued at regular
intervals, thilis net worth has not been stressed. %The fact that
for every dollar invested the member owns in assets, based on the
amoung of patronage, an average of 25, indicates the remarkable
efficiency of the management.

Of this net worth or members' equity of $180,000, including
nearly 20,000 for a reserve fund required by law, the greater
part of this value 1s represented in goods and equipment paid for
and on the shelves or in daily use. The balance is working cash.
According to pending plans enough cash will be avallable in July
to pay some of the patronage savings while at the same time fdrly
normal replacement of goods and services for normal operation can
be maintained for the convenience and service of all patrons.

1t 1s doubtful if any camp resident paid much attention to

this statement.




Ward meetings of the Co-op members were held and temporary
board members elected in some of the wards. The following expla-

nation which appeared in the Tule Lake Cooperator of July 11 is

significant. Some wards put up no representatives, Lnobe®dy
because no one could be found to take the positions.

NEW BOARD IS ORGANIZED

Transfer of the Authority July 12 Stores and Shops will be

Kept Open

In order to continue the undertaking of Tule Lake Cooperative
Enterprises, and to transfer the authority from the former Board
of Lirectors who felt themselves responsible for General Manager
Hitomi's violent death and resigned July 3rd, the Ward Representa-
tives Assemblies have been holding meetlngs under consultation
slnce then to work out emergency measures.,

Ward I held a general membership meeting, but has neither
elected new Hepresentatives nor new lVirectors yet.

Ward II re-elected the two former Lirectors by votes of
confidence.

Ward IIl. All members of the Ward Representatives resigned,
and the newly-elscted Representatives selected two Director s.

Ward 1V elected two new Directors.

Ward V. A4ll members of the Ward Representatives resigned,
and the newly-elected Representatives selected two Directors.
nowever, these two resigned after attending meeting on the 9th.

Ward VI elected two new Lirectors,

Ward VII held a general membership meeting and informed the
members of the resignation of the Board of Uirectors. But, the
new Lirectors have not as yet been elected up to date.

Ward VIII elected two new Directors,

Mr. Runcorncommented upon the dubious character of these

elections. wvnder the circumstances, however, he made no complaint,

believing that any board members, no matter how selected, were

better than none.




"I don't know what's going on in the block elections or how
difficult it 1s to get the people out. There is no quorum reguired
in our rules. Probably very few turned out., We were careful to
make the Board lMembers representative, but at the block level the
elections are just a black spot,"

Mr. Runcorn meant that he was quite in the dark as to procedure
and attendance at these electlons, not that they were a disgrace.

On July 9th the newly-elected Directors and the old Board
met In joint meeting. What took place at this meeting is not
known. The personnel of the new Board was selected however, sub-
ject to approval of some of the men by an additional ward meeting,
in those werds where the Board liembers had been selected by a group
too small to be considered a quorum.2 The following very interest ing
statement by Messrs. Matsumotoc and Hayashi, ex-directors was also
printed at this time.

Messrs. Manki Matsumoto and Masami Hayashi ex-Directors, sent
in their formal resignations dated July 10th, despite the fact
that Ward Assembly re-elected them as Directors. These two men
are firmly determined to get out of the Board now and would not
consider nor accept the recommendation made by their Ward Assembly.

The next day Mr. Tadaichi Nomura was elected as temporary
chalrman., He remained in office for about three months and eventu-

ally resigned due to conflict within the Board itself.

The following three exerpts from the Tule Lake Cooperator of

July 24 picture the altered policy of the new Eoard very clearly.

The distribution of the patronage refunds was another one of the
points for which the new Board had to battle with the administration.
NEW BOARD OF DIRECTORS ASK FOR YOUR SUPPORT

We, the new Board of Directors announce that the sudden death
of the late General Manager Yaozo Hitomi has made a great change
of managing staffs in various sections of our Co-op.

The new Board of Directors assembled at their first meeting
on July 12th and elected president and vice-president by mutual
votes. As probably you presume the Board is still facing further

1
2Tule Lake Cooperator,
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difficulties in selecting the personnel for the key positions. If
the actual condition of the Co-op has not been well presented to
its members, then there will be a tendency to cause misunderstanding.

Our moto, however, always has been symbolized as fair play
to everyone and of trylng not to disturb the expectation of the
members in majority.

Therefore, we appeal to you for the preparation to create
a smooth and favorable operation of our Co-op in the future, you
are urged and invited to assist in choosing the most capable men
for this purpose.

48 to the nomination of candidates all nominators are requested
to furnish the detalls of their candidates' personal records and
to hand it to the block manager.

The names given by each block's nomination will be discussed
at the general assembly which 1s scheduled to take place on July 24th
and then will be transferred to the Board of Directors' meeting
for further examination.

Lf the members will carefully present a few candidates for
the positions of General Manager, Treasurer, and Executive Secretary,
1t will greatly help the Board of Dlirectors in making a final deci-
sion., XYour fine judgment and generous cooperation is needed to
carry on this program.

We may say there 1s a slight tendency of an atmosphere of
"None of my business-sim" can be found among us members, Loesn't
1t%

We must eliminate totally such unfavorable feeling because it
might happen to be a cause of unwelcomed incident.

We, especlally take this opportunity to appeal to you for
your hearty assistance and cooperation which is essentlally needed
to adopt a successful plan for mutugl benefit of all patrons.

Lets!' be in the full spirit of cooperation!!
PATRONAGE - HREFUNDS ARE IN DISTRIBUTION

In accordance with the decision reached st the meeting of the
former Board of Directors on June 26th, 1944, it was decided that
the payment in script for the Certificates of Indebtedness issued
for patronage from July 1, to September 30, 1945, will be made
sometime in this month,

4s the result of asking the members ® wait for the redemption
of Certificates of Indebtedness up to the present, the Co-op has
been able to consolidate the foundation of its financial condition,
and will be able to redeem the Certificates of Indebtedness every
three months hereafter,

This method, as you members know, has been regarded as the




best way and will be carried out for the Co-op business operation
in the future.

The procedure for the distribution of scripts will be the
same as it was conducted in last December; that 1s, respective
representatives will be requested to pass out scripts to the
members in exchange for Certificates of Indebtedness.

EMPLOYEES ARE ReQUESIEL TO STAY ON THE POSTS

Due to the recent event of the Executive Staffs' resignations
in succession, many other key employees, who have responsibilities
of managing Canteens, Repalr Shops, Service Shops, etc., have also
tendered their resignations one after another. Consequently, the
Co-op is now facing not only imminent difficulty in filling such
vacancies but also difficulty in the management of the Co-op
business. However, in spite of these difficultles the Co-op has
been and will attempt to give better service to the residents, for
that is the primary principle of the Co-op.

It is obvious that in case the proper function of our present
Co-op business operation 1s discontinued and be at a standstill,
all of its members as well as residents will suffer serious incon-
veniences.

In order to run our business smoothly and to give the better
services to the colonists by continuing the operation of it canteens,
the Co-op has requested earnsstly to the executive staffs and key
employees in the various canteens and service shops to remain in
their positions, at least, until such time when successors are
found, even though their resignations have been sccepted by the
Board. At the same time newly elected Board of Directors, who
were installed very recently, have also strongly appealled to the
generosities and spirits of cooperation of the resigned staffs to
remaln their positions for a whille.

This is the present situation of our Co-op; therefore, the
Co-op wishes all members to realize these facts and gilve their
full cooperations in supporting this matter in order to meet the
situation properly.

July 24th also marked the departure of Mr. Runcorn, who was
"promoted" out of his position according to fairly reliable adminis-
trative rumor.

With the arrival of Messrs, Currie, McNeil and Rossman

Washington early in August, the complexion of the situation
AL ’ L. %

gsomewhat. p, These men quickly “took in the camp situation and

position of the Board nememesb¥y=weYl, and adopted a policy

championingybhoew-reasonable requests against the still hostile
b B




administration., As has been mentioned previously, they settled
the perplexing domestic service issue by obtaining Washington's
permission to transfer the management of the domestic workers
to the WRA placement bureau., An amusing but none the less
slgnificant account of the first interview these three men from
Washington had with Mr, Best was glven by a reliable informant
present., The Co-op men outlined the necessity of considering the
Board's point of view. Said Mr. Best: "There's only one ball
team on thils project and that's my ball team. I hope you men sre
going to play on my ball team." Mr, Currie replied, "lr. Best,
if there's only one ball team there can't be any game." Mr., Best
did not find this remark amusing. One of the Co-op men described
Mr, Best's attitude toward the Doard:

"They'1ll take it or else, "l

Encouraged by Mr. Currie the Board proceeded with its policy
of consulting the wishes of the people. The following publications
are examples. The writer found, however, that on the whole, the
greater part of the residents did not take this information very
seriously. What impressed them, was the Board's changed attitude.
E LIRA
FREEL OPINIONS INVITmD 10 ImCIk CO-0FP'S NEWLY PLANNEL UNLERTAKINGS

The plan for three undertakings; namely, to establish Photo
Studio, to manufacture Age-Tofu (fried bean cake), and to operate
Moving Picture Theater was contemplated by the former Board of
Directors but it has failed to materialize during its term of
office., 7The newly organized Board of Lirectors has decided at its
last meeting to leave these matters to the discretion of the mem-
bers., All representatives, therefore, are requested to refer these
matters to their respective blocks for members' opinion. Further-
more, they are asked to present members' opinion at their respective

Ward assemblies for reconsideration. Complete decision of Ward
assemblies willl then be submitted at the regul ar Board of Directors

15. hankey, Notes, aug. 7, 1944, p. 1l.




meeting which is scheduled to be held in the near future. The se
new undertakings will be carried into effect after Board of
. Directors'! final approval is obtailned.

I. The Matter Regarding Co-op Moving Pictures

The former executive officers have assembled completely the
two movie machines in accordance with the decision reached by the
former Board of Directors. They had also completed negotiation
with the WRA which will bear all the expenses which are necessary
in making the auditorium sound proof. Fermission was granted by
the Authorities for the Co-op to use High School Auditorium as
the place of theater on every Sunday and Monday. As yet final
arrangement has not been reached with the local Community Activity
Lepartment for the showing of movies. Because it is very difficult
to obtain Japanese films on account of various restrictions, movies
shown will be mostly American films.

II. The Matter Regarding Establishment of Co-op Photo Studio

Preparation for this undertaking was progressing favorably in
accordance with the decislon of the former Board of Directors. It
is possible to borrow photographic equipments from resident in this
center who has such equipments now stored in the Government Ware-
house. Prior approval must be obtained before transporting such
equipments. The plan was to construct Fhoto Studio adjacent to
the Fish Market, Official FPermission to construct such a buillding
has not yet been received; but, it has been granted unofficlally.
On June 12, 1944 the Co-op made a petition through Mr,. Black,
Assistant Project Director, to the Commander of Western Lefense
Command requesting for the permission to establish Photo Studio.
This permission was necessary before taking any step on the work,
However, the Co-op has not recelved any reply to the petition up
to the present.

III. The Matter Regarding Manufacture of age-rofu (fried bean cake

As mentioned in the August 7th issue of the "Cooperator",
the newly elected Board of Directors at its meeting on July 3lst
decided to table this matter until approval is received from the
General Assembly whose meeting is to be held in the latter part of
August, Judging from the present equipments which the former Board
of Directors nas assembled, production capacity of Age-Tofu is now
estimated at 500 pleces per day which can be probably sold at the
Fish Market. However, its production capacity can be possibly
increased to 1,500 to 2,000 pieces per day when newly ordered
equipment (usu) arrive, when the oven (kama) i1s improved, and
when 7 to 8 workers are added to the working force. 1In case all
the products can not be bought by the residents, after negotiation
wlith the WRA the Co-op will try to dispose the surplus through
the mess halls,

These informations are now given to the members for their
reference and study. Therefore, the Co-op wishes the meTbers to
read this thoroughly and give their individual decision.

lpule Lake Cooperator, Aug. 15, 1944




B CLARATION, POLICY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOHS
Tule Lake Cooperative Enterprises, Inc. shall not be operated
for the purpose of profit, but to provide necessary merchandlse
and services at the lowest possible cost to the evacuee residents.
Being that war is a temporary thing, we shall not enter 1into
a program of expansion where vast amount of capital would haw
to be invested.

Sale of luxury items will be limited to those goods and services
considered necessary for the residents.

We shall not permit high pressure sales of goods, no discount
to anyone and no quantity sale price.

Courtesy and Honesty shall be the gulding principles for all
workers to follow.

We shall confine ourselves to the conduct of business and

we shall not enter into any affairs having no bearing upon

the proper discharge of responsibility.l

The Board of Directors took another important action which
was not known elther to the residents or to the administration.
This was the acquisition of a special accountant, a Japanese of
recognized integrity and prestige, who consented to undertake the
periodic checking of the Co-op's books, providing he received no
salary for this. The Board now felt 1tself backed by the certailn
knowledge that their accounts were under periodic scrutiny by a
man in whom they could place complete trust, and consequently, they
could dismiss the nagging fear of grafting which might take placel
without their knowledge.

Changing attitude of the people toward the Co-op Board

It 1s difficult to plcture the great change in the public
attitude toward the Co-op EBoard because as the confidence in the
new board increased, the people talked about it less and less. At
the very first, some persons were cynical and expressed attitudes
like those of lir. Yamaguchi when he heard that a new Board had been

elected:

Iivig., aug. 26, 1944.




T was shocked, I was completely dumb., They told me to
come (to the Co-op meeting) but I didn't go. Those people who
took the job belong to the unwise group. Maybe they do it just
to get a name., rerhaps it was somebody who used to be a farmer,
He has no name and he's %Oing to do something about it (1. e.,
get a name for himself.) "l

The changing attitude is shown in a statement made by this
same informant's wife, three weeks later, when asked how people
were feeling toward the llew Board, she sald:

"People I know are very glad about it. It seems everythirg
is in order now."2

That public sentiment was already changing as early as
three weeks after the murder is siown by the following statemert
from a nisel girl:

"Well, as far as our block is concerned, they (the people)
were very satisfied with the New Board representatives, The
people expect some improvement now, although some peoplg think
maybe 1t will not go on as smoothly as I hope it will."

On July 20, K, who had excellent contacts on the New Board

sald:

"I don't think the Administration can run this new Co-op
Board so easil:j."4

On July 31 he again impressed the writer with the fact %heb
that the o0ld "luxury issue" must be settled. Thils attitude was
widespread at this time:

"The quickest way to straighten out the Co-op from my point
of view is they must cut out luxuries., If they cut out all the
luxuries, then they will be respected.

"All the Japanese in this camp are not rich. Some are very
poor. The sixteen dollars they get barely buys their tobacco.
But if my neighbor buys watermelon for his children at 20g a
pound I can't afford to buy it for my children, 4s a parent 1
will feel hurt. Those things hurt. . think the majority of the
people agree; they don't want luxuries.”

1R. Hankey, Notes, July 19, 1944, p. 1.
2ibid., Aug. 7, 1944, p. 5.
51bid,, July 18, 1944, p. 2.
41pid., July 20, 1944, p. 2.
°Tbid., July 31, 1944, p. 3.




On July 24, an elderly 1ssei said of the New Board:

"The people feel 1it's better than it used to be. They will
have a hard time, though, trylng to make the whole Cfmp under-
stand., The Co-op is the biggest source of trouble,"

Un August 8, the conservative Mr, Okamoto said,

"The people don't say anything. It used to be the people
complained so much, "%

This improved rapport between the residents and the Co-op
continued for the remainder of the camp's existence (if nothing
happens). A few agitators made uncomplimentary remarks on
occasion, but for the great majority of the people the Co-op
assumed the status of a decent and correctly run organization
working for "the good of the people,"

THe JULY HUNGeE R STRIKE

News that the detainees remaining in the stockade had gone
on a hunger strike was discussed by higher members of the personnel
on July 19. The strike had begun on the 18th. An attempt was
made to keep the fact from the personnel, but this was not posd ble,
Details of what had caused the strike and what was transpiring
were closely guarded by Mr. Best and Mr., Schmidt. This mysterious
atmosphere served to arouse a tremendous curlosity among the s aff
members and the driblets of misinformation avallable were eagerly
picked up and enlarged. Throughout the entire course of the
strike the appointed personnel was far more nervous, anxious
and tense than those of the camp residents who did not have a
relative in the stockade. A series of reasons for the strike
were hazarded by high ranking staff members. On July 19, Nr,

hcckliter, the Project Attorney, blamed it on Mr,., Besig. Leckliter

livia., July 24, 1944, p. 2.
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is reported to have sald, "Just as we were getting ready to let
Reverend Lkal see his wlfe and child and reunite a married couple,
they have to do that,"l

The next day Lr. Opler asked Mr. Black for the causes but
stated, "I didn't get any reasons that sounded sensible.,"®

“Black sald that the men in the stockade had begun to send
me ssages out on pasper. As he Lblack) rambled on, he said people
in the stockade were beginning to send memos out to the Administ ra-
tive Personnel, Sugimoto had sent one to Hayward (the Chief
Steward) telling Hayward and the Mess Management what they wante d
to eat, how they wanted it sent in, etec. They wer% told not to
do this and got sore and went on a hunger strike,'

When the detainees themselves were contacted much later,
1t was difficult to obtaln a really clear picture of why the
strike was initiated. Yoshiyama and Uchida told the following
storys

"In the first place we wanted to know the reason why we were
being held. They didn't even give us a hearing. The hearing
we had wasn't connected with the incident at all. They asked me
if I would commit sabotage? Did 1 believe the Emperor of Japan
is a God etec. That was one of the reasons.

"The other was when Mr, Hitomi was killed or murdered. WRA
claimed we were the ones who told the colonists to murder Hitomi.
lhey said there is proof that we made a particular group whom we
made murder Hitomi.

"T'he food situation was another reason. . ."

Here Mr. Uchida interrupted, "The plaster board too."
Mr, Yoshiyama continued:

"I wouldn't say the food was worse, but Mr. Hayward promised
lir. Sugimoto that the food would be sent from the warehouse to
the gate of the stockade. This was so that the eggs would not
crack, etc., For a while they did that.

“Then they started bringing the food to the Internal Security
Office. The eggs were cracked and not fit to eat. Not only
that - some of the food wasn't there., It also meant we had to
walk to the Internal Security Office with an Internal Security
guard to get the food.

livid., July 19, 1944,
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"Also, they didn't let us have the letters coming in from
the colony or let our letters go through."l

Mr, Kuratomil stated:

"The motive for the second strike was about the same as the
first one, Ws had been promised from way back that we'd be
released in the near future, 1 was called into lMr, Best's office
and fed the same thing. At the end, the boys would say to me,
'"What's the use to go to see him%? His promises don't hold water.,'

"By the time the strike started we were told plainly that
by the end of June the stockade would be liquldated. 1 even
asked lr, Best for his interpretation of the word 'liquidate.’
It wasn't lmpossible that he might mean to ligquidate the existing
stockade and put us in another.

"'he plaster board was put up. Things were bad enough with-
out being accused of murder. Mr, Best insinuated that, and said
that some people in camp had told him that I had something to do
with the murder.

"Of course the mall was stopped, That was after Hitomi's
death, They even refused to bgring our food to the gate. 1t was
all these things combined. Our motive never was so much our
release but rather to prove our innocence. We wanted some state-
ment from the administration. If accused, we wanted proof of
our gullt. We wanted to be tried. They accused us of glving
notes to the driver (fo the wagon which delivered food.

"Until we started the second hunger strike around June 23,
Mr., Schmidt came 1into the stockade for the first time in his
life and told us how hard he was working for us. He told us,
'"You might think I'm a son of a bitch, but some day you'll find
out how much I work for you.'

(At this part of the conversation lNr, Kuratoml apologized
to the writer for this language.)

"He was trying his best to show his kindly intentions to
the stockade boys.

(Mr. Kuratomi implied that Mr. Schmidt's sudden change in
behavior did not deceive the detainees.)

"The 21st of august - that was the first time we were allowed
to see our families, except for the case of lirs. Mori, On August
21lst Mr. Kobayashi saw his wife and children. DMNr. Besig suggested
to the administration that some visiting day should be allowed
because even penitentiary criminals were allowed visits. HMr. Best
salid it was hls jurisdiction and he would not allow it."2

14bid., Sept. 15, 1944, pp. 8-9.
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On initiating the hunger strike, lMr., Yoshiyama prepared a
statement of reasonss

July 18, 1944

After a most serious consideratlion we have flnally decided
that the only weapon and the only solution to let known our
8incerity to all that we are not a trouble maker such as the
WRA has branded us we plan to undergo another hunger strile .,

I shall refrain from writing minor reasons for undertaking such
steps. Some of the numerous grievances are:

1 Imprisoned for over eight months without the filing of
charges or the granting of a hearing or trial of any
kind,

No proof or evidence substantiating our guilt,

Living in a world of infinity for no reasons whatsoever,l
During the entire time we have been in the Stockade we
have been denled all visiting privileges from our wives,

children, flancees a anyone else,

I was denied visits from my fiancee whom I was scheduled
to marry the day after my arrest on November 13th.

Children born since our incarceration, but to even see
their wives were denied.

Third degree methods used on many of us,

Censorshlip of mails, including that coming from outsid
the Center.

Since July 2, we were not permitted to receive cigarettes,
toilet articles and our daily needs,

Beaver board erected for no reasons what® ever since
July 2nd. Solitary confinement cannot be any worse,

Constant abusive words from the attending Internal
Security oStaffs.

No medical or first ald facilities., Service to the
base hospital denied.

Denied the constitutional right to consel. Denial of
due process of law to all of us.

In connectlon with the interview which we had with Mr.
Brnest Deslig of the American Civil Liberties Union, all
right of privacy was denied to us.

Mr. Yoshiyama perhaps means 'infamy' here.




To make an analysis of these reasons and decide which were
actually the most pertinent would be vain, As with the tremendous
surge of public fury of October and November of 1945, the motives
for the strike were probably emotional rather than rational.

Eight months of incarceration would not be likely to strengthen
emotional stability. ‘he shock of being accused of complicity
in the Hitoml murder, the unsatisfactory interviews with lMr., Besig,

and the overwhelming desire to triumph over Mr. Best and the

administration were probably more important than any of the more

materiallstic reasons given., very probably some of the detalnees
had convinced themselves that they would dile before giving in,
The hope that the center residents would rise to their assistance
and create such a furor that the WRA would be forced to give in
was probably cherished by some of the strikers. How vain his
hope was will shown later,

Four days after the initiation of the strike there were
administrative rumors that Mr. Best was considering the release
of the striking detalnees, Robertson stated that in a conversation
with Schmidt and Best, Schmidt asked Mr, Best, "Have you told
Robertson how you feel about the strike?" "No, I haven't," said
Best. Schmidt then said: "I feel those fellows ought to be
down in the colony. <they are doing more harm in there (in the
stockade)." DBest is reported to have stated, "I'm just about
convinced that I'll let them go back." Whether this was a true
indication of Mr. Best's attitude at this time or not, the fact
remains that as the strike continued Mr. Best determined not to

release the men.

libid., July 22, 1v4d, p. 1.




On July 25, after a week of fasting, Toklo Yamane, one of

younger detainees, fainted and was taken to the nospital. On the

same evening Heverend Kai's wife was brought up to see him with

the hope that she could convince him to abandon the strike. She
was not successful, Some indication of the attitude of at least
one of the detainees may be obtained from the following exerpts
from the Llary which Mr. Yoshiyama kept:

"I feel very lousy, My head feels heavy during the hot dgy
but shomehow relieves during the evening. . . Facked all our
belongings during the morning for most of us sre really getting
weak, I am now ready tc be carried back to the Center or to
the DBase Hospital. Cleaned our Barracks and burned all unnecces
sary things for too messy rooms gets in our nerves, 1 do not
feel 1ike talking too long. MNr, Fred Hamamoto is quite sick and
he needs to be carried by someone to the rest room. . . Mr, Schmidt
came to see all of us and brought us some chocolate candles but
refused to touch it."

On the evenlng of July 25, Mr, Black addressed the meeting
of the Community Menagement Division and released some information
on the strike., He stated that the 13 men remaining in the stockade
were striking to the death and that they had sworn they would not
stop unless they were released., Mr, Best was extremely concerrme d
and had telephoned Mr. Myer, but had been unable to reach him
since Myer was on vacation., Mr. Black also stated that the adminis-
tration had been considering every possible plan of action, even
that of bringing up the men's wives., The administration, he
sald, was extremely anxious to release the men under favorable
conditions when they could make a favorable contribution to the
population, oSuch a time has never come for s moment since their
internment, It would be impossible to release them while they

were on strike for that would be giving way to their demands which

would appear to be a great victory for them,1
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On July 26th Mr., Robertson informed the writer that three
more men had asked to be taken to the hospital but had been
returned to the stockade after treatment. Robertson also inti-

mated that Washington had glven Mr., Best carte blanche in handling

the strike.l

Un July 28th some of the relatives of the detalnees, who
after ten days of nervous strain were quite frantic, came to
¥r. Leckliters office and demanded to see lMr. Best, stating that
they would stage a sit down strike unless they were allowed to

see Mr, Best. Mlr. Best, however, was out of town and Mr., Black
3 >

refused to. see them. They returned home,<

On July 29th all of the fasters went to the hospital and
the news that the hunger strike had been broken spread rapidly
through the Administrative area. Why the men broke their fast
was never adequately explained either by the administration or
the detainees themselves, The writer was also informed that the
Japanese doctors had met everyday while the strike was in session
trying to come to some declsion as to whether they should treat
the men or not. By treating them, they felt they would be
accused of assisting in breaking the strike and thereby aiding
the administration, an action which would bring them much unpopu-
larity.

It should also be mentioned that during the strike the
members of the Internal Security continued to spread the comforting
news to the Caucasian personnel that the stockade was full of food
on which the strlkers were surreptiously gorging themselves. thy

they did not remove this food, they never explained, When the
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detalnees were examined, however, Lr. Sleath stated that they

showed symptoms of starvation,l

Attitude of the Camp Residents

ihe hunger strike caused no furor at all in the center proper.,
On the whole, the people dlsapproved of it as a foolish snd use~-
less gesture. The writer, who is always quizzed on matters of
interest on the “other side of the fence" was seldom asked about

the strike. On the other hand, sympathy with the men because

they had been interned so long was very strong. On July 30, K,
saild:

"I think it (the hunger strike) has made a very strong
impression on the people. Those boys have been kept 1in there
unjustly when they should have been released. The only solutlon
which would bring back the camp to normal 1s the release from
the stockade.,"”

The attitude of the pressure group which had been agitating
for release was well described by Mr. Robertson, who was in close
wntact with this group:

“I'm told (by members of pressure group) that these fellows
have finally made up their minds that they are golng to lock
horns with the Administration and that they're not going to eat
until they're released. And if they dle, somebody's golng to my
for their death. I said then, "What about Tokio (Yamane)? He's
receilving food.' They answered, 'No, he's ji's t receiving medical

treatment. Injections are not food,'"®
On July 29th and 30th the members of this pressure group
began to circulate a petition throughthe center asking for the

release of the detainees,
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I have a dim memory that "U" translated this petition for me much
later, If I can find it in my notes it will be inserted here.
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The agitation with which the circulation of this petition

was accompanied aroused the ire of "K", a very influential Japa-
nese, who became soO concerned that he visited Mr., Best and obtained
Mir. Best's pramise that the internees would be released within
a month, "K" then returned to the center and put all of his
influence into stopping the petition., The petition was promptly
wlthdrawn from circulation and according to rumor, was destroyed.
Whether K's efforts were the determining factor or whether some
other reason caused the instigators of the petition to change
thelr minds, the writer does not know,.

K. explained his motives as follows:

"There's a certain amount of agitation going on. The people
are taking an interest. They have cilrculated a petition. It
seems they're willing to sign. But I'm trying to kill it, Because
Nr, cest told me that the boys will be released within a month,
That's why I wanted to kill the agitation which may cause trouble
and harship to the Japanese as well as to the administration,

“Mr. Best told me they will be released within a month. I
told people if he doesn't release the boys within a month they
can have the petition already signed for presentation. In the
meantime, 1f the¢f present the petition to Mr. Best he will feel
he's being forced.

“If Mr, Best will only live up to his word and release the
boys within a month, we'll have a different atmosphere.

“The petition was explained to us in the messhall. In general -
it was in Japanese, and is very difficult to translate properly -
it states that the poor boys have been kept in the stockade a
long time and we would like them released. If they should die
i1t wlll be on our conscience. If the colony would get together
and petitlon Mr. Best to have them released, people would be
grateful.

“I couldn't find out who wrote it. So when I got this steate-
ment from Mr. Best, I asked a man to deliver this message to the
writer. They may stop it or they may carry it through,

“Some people have told me that Mr, Best cannot be relied
upon., bHut I told them it all depends on how we look at that per son.
I don't believe in high pressuring a man if you can avoid it,"l
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About a week later, L, gave his frank opinion of this pressure
group. Incldentally, this was the first severe criticism of the

under-cover pressure group which, the writer heard. Later, as
A
the group gained more power, bhe—group became increasingly hated;

however, 1t was so feared that few persons dared to criticise it.
Had K. not been a man of extraordinary frankness, and moreover,
had he not trusted the writer greatly, a large part of the
machinations of thils group would never have been known for the
purposes of this study.

"Une motive of these groups (working for the relesase of the
men in the stockade 1s that they are working for publicity., At
the present time the people are finding out what motive he (W,, the
man at the head of the group) has in working for these things.
I'm afraid a great deal of the confidence of the people has been
lost.

"In salesmanship you say you can talk yourself out of it.
In publlicity you can talk yourself out of it too. That's what
happened in this case.

“The greatest mistake this group made) was regarding the
verdict given by the Court Martial. Before that verdict was given
out, a threat of a very serious nature was made. But that threat
leaked out and that threat wasn't kept. Somehow, I think that
person (W) must have lost the confidence of the people on account
of 1t."

The great bulk of the camp population reacted to the petition

very differently than kK., B&very informant contacted gave evidence

of sympathy with the strikers (tbonnh tn@w did not ap)rove the

}‘_}l’ :.j:I‘JIT, ,9(? _£.~ : (d,
strike) and all admitted signing the pﬂtit o In spite of the

fact that in a sltuation like thls, no one could refuse to sign
wlthout appearing extremely heartless, the writer believes that
this sympathy was sincere.

Mrs. Yamaguchl said:

"They all signed the petition in this block. It came back
though, "2

livid., Aug. 7, 1944, p. 3.
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Mr., Abe said:

“Just about everybody signed in this block. The families
of the internees asked for the petition, I signed it myself. I
think most of the people signed the petition. bBut the members
of the families reconsidered and decided not to present i1t. I
think Mr. Beslg had something to do with it., The family think
that 1if they present the petition, they think that indirectly
they are admitting that they (the detainses) are guilty. ‘that's
why they withdrew the petition. in the meantimg, they are seeing..."l

It is very doubtful that Mr, Besig had anything to do with
the withdrawal of the petitlion.

Mr. Okamoto said:

“About one week ago we signed the petition. But we hear it
was burnt., They say 8,200 people signed it. I think that is true.
almost everybody in this block signed it,

"I heard a rumor about Best letting the men out in two weeks.
I also heard that the strike was connected with the Hitomi case."2

Between august 4th and August 7th all of the detainees were
dismissed from the hospital and returned to the stockade., Evi-
dently they believed that they were about to be released and wren
they found themselves back in the stockade, they immediately
resumed the strike., Ilir. Yoshiyama's diary states:

“Received words that I would be leaving the hospital and te
under the custody of Internal Security. . We thought we were to
be released, but at 1:30 P.M. we were sent back to the Stockade
again., a4 few minutes later lir, Schmidt came to see us but his
reaction unfavorable so we decided to continue with our hunger
strike again."

The strikers rather dramatically nailed two red handkerchiefs
to the sides of their barrack. The writer was told later that

these handkerchiefs were signals to the relatives that the strike

was still on.,

The aAdministration took great pains to keep the resumption

of this strlke a secret. It was, so far as the writer knows,

never released to the newspapers, since the stopping of the strike

1ibid-, Aug- 8’ 19441 P. le

b2

CdblA., D D




had already been publiclzed. On August 8th the following conver sa-
tlon took place between Mr, Robertson and Lr, Opler:

Opler: The Adminlstrative attitude is, "Don't tell the colony
that the men have gone back on a hunger strike." Best
sald, "This time they're not to go b ack to the hospital
unless they go to ward "X" (the morgue)."

best also clalms that Myer advised him durlng the first
strike not to put the men in the hospital. (Opler hardly
credited this,)

Hobertson: The resumption of the hunger strike was a slap at the
administration for the sole purpose of embarrassing them,
As far as 1 can see, there 1s no desire on the part of
the strikers to get out now. They have said, "One man is
going to dle. Then Best 1s going to dle."

Best made the statement: "I'm not going to let 14 fellows
bluff me because if I give in I'll have no control over
the colony.

Also he saw Kuratoml before the reinstitution of the strike.
Kuratomi asked Best for a date of release. DBest wouldn't
give it to him. The understanding was that Best would

glve a date 1f they stopped the hunger strike first. Best
sald, "I've got just as much right to demand that you quit
the hunger strike first,"

Opler: I think 1t's stlll very much a matter of a personal feud
between Best and Kuratomi. That was important in the
November incident too.

Robertson: Dest has made hils decision. They are going to stay
ln thers and starve to death, Now he doesn't even say,
"If you stop the hunger strike I'll let you out," but,
"If you stop the hunger strike and quiet down, I'l1 see
about it,"

Opler: There are a great amount of rumors about Best and that
he'll be next if one of the boys dies.

Robertson: I heard he was being watched very closely in the
colony., He never goes in without another Caucasian with
him, usually a member of Internal Security.

The tension among those members of the personnel who knew
what was golng on was almost unbearable. A heavy pall of despair

sank upon those who belleved that lr, Best was doing wrong. Had

Mr. Best been murdered, there were a few who would have thought

L N
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that he had received his just deserts. However, Nr, Best himself
was far more worried than he would admit. The writer was told
later, from a very reliable source, that he feared for his 1life
and was so close to a nervous breakdown that he almost resigned,
There is no doubt that at this period tenslon was far greater
among the members of the appointed personnel than in the center.
By the evening of August 11, the anxlety of the relatives
of the fasting men reacned a state bordering on hysteria, A
group came to the Internal Security office and when they were
given no hope some stated, "If they aren't out by tomorrow noon,
something 1s going to happen." They were taken back to the colony
but refused to leave the gates, standing there until eleven o'clock
at night and shouting imprecations at the members of the Interml
Security: "If you were in here, we'd kill you right now." It is
reported that the Internal Security threw water on them. Two
rather unsentimental Caucasians reported the following occurrence.
They were present when the wife of lir, Kobayashi telephoned Inte rnal
Security to inquire about his condition, "He's fine, he's fine,"
sald the policeman., Then hanging up the receiver he turned to
the Caucasians present and remarked, "Huh, he'!s just about ready
to be stuffed."l So great was the anxiety of the Administration
that the Army was put on the alert on this evening, although there
was not the remotest possibility of any upraising in the colony
in behalf of the strikers.

Un the night of August 12, the hunger strike broke. None

of the strikers was willing to speak to the writer on the reasons.,

The only accounts available are from two Caucasians: Mr., Robertson
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told the following story which he had had from one of the Internal
Security men on duty in the stockade:

"At about 1300 A.M, the internees called to the police that
one of the men was very sick and should be hospitalized., Schmidt
sald, 'You're not going to be hospitalized. However, a doctor
was brought (to the stockade). The doctor said that the elderly
man's heart was in poor condition and was skipping., (This was
Mr, Ishigami.) He also stated that some of the other boys would
be 1n poor shape in another day or so. The doctor then left.

"Schmidt sald, 'You're the guys who are keeping that 0ld man
from eating. His blood will be on your hands,'

"In sbout ten minutes the internee who had called the police
(probably Hev. Kal) came back and said, 'tou win. Take him to
the hospital.! A4ll of the men then took food, "l

Mr. Gunderson, the High School Principal gave the following
account, supposed to come from Mr, Best and kr, Schmidt:

"At midnight the men in the stockade saw that one of their
number was on the verge of death, Yhree others were very ill.
They called Schmidt and asked that the dying man be taken to the
hospital. Schmidt said, 'Nothing doing., It's your fault they're
dying. It's your responsibility.' Kai and Kuratomi tried to
bargain with Schmidt, but he was adamant, 'Go off the strike'!
sald he., Rev, Kal asked for a half an hour to talk to the other
men. In ten minutes he came back and said that they had all
agreed to qult, DUr. Sleath came over and fed them pablum and milk
which they all promptly threw up. The dangerously 1ill1 man was
taken to the hospital. Sunday morning (Aug. 13) three more were
taken to the hospital,"?

One of the strikers told the writer later that it was Rev,
Kal and Mr. Sugimoto who negotiated with Schmidt. Less than a
week after the breaking of the strike, Rev. Kal and Mr. Kuratomi
were released. At intervals of a day or two thereafter all of
the other men were released.

attitudes of the Residents

kven at the most serious Period in the strike when it appeared
that one of the weaker men might die, there was never any indication

that a significant number of the colonists had the slightest

1
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intention of taking violent action in their behalf. Some Japanese

believed there might be trouble if one of the men died,l but

there is no indlcation that anyone with the exception of the
pressure groups made plans as to what to do in this eventuality

Unanimously, however, everyone in the colony wanted the men
released. The fear that they might cuase trouble, which had been
expressed by some individuals months before, was entirely forgotten.
On August 14, an extremely conservative old Tulean issei sald m
the subject:

"I think that Mr., Best and the people in the center don't
see eye to eye on almost everything. . « .As you know, there are
14 people 1ln the stockade at present. There has been no definite
verdict given. %There has been no hearing."2

After the strike lmd stopped, an intelligent nisei girl
stated that nobody had been much concerned over the hunger strike,
If a man had dled, the feeling might have been different,"®

K, denounced the strike as foolish;

"If Kal and Kuratomi really engineered the hunger strike, I
have little respect for them. There must be something fishy. I
thought 4r. Kal and the rest of the leaders were supposed to be
leading the boys on the right road instead of going on a hunger
strike which 1s not an honorable thing to do. . .

“I don't think if a man had died the people could have been
stirred enough to demonstrate. <vhere was great sympathy in camp
and agitation - but there wouldn't have been a demonstration,”

On the threats of the relatives, K, said:

"They were just making threats to satisfy their grouch, People
who threaten out loud, seldom act. They (the detsinees) should
have Deen tried long ago. Many people in this center have been
convicted of battery and sentenced. ile ask for justice and if

justice is given we won't complain against the administration.

Mrs. Fujimoto, a gentle conservative woman, said:
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"I don't see why they went on a hunger strike. They weren't
doing the WRA any harm. They were just harming themselves. It
made us sad though, I kind of pity them."1l

Her husband expressed himself much more bluntly:

"The people didn't pay any attention to the hunger strike.
Except for their relatiges, the rest of the camp thought they
were plain damn fools,"2

A nisel girl who had previously denounced the detainees as

radical agitators, sald:

"I think they should be left out or they should be given
a reason for their being there,"d

Another young girl of the same point of view said:

"I think it's better that they were released., I don't see
why they should be punished. They thought they were doing some-
thing good for the camp. I feel very relieved. It's a good
thing they were released. Naturally, we feel sorry for them."4

From these and many other statements it is apparent that
relief over the release of the detalnees was wide spread even
among those persons who had previously been hostile to them,
lr., Best's strategy in releasing Kai and Kuratomi first, that
they might lose prestige thereby, did not have much effect on
the people. The detainees had already lost almost all of their
prestige and, except for a small group of loyal supporters, all
of their hold as leaders. They had become objects of pity rather
than respect.

R SIGNATION OF IN ERNAL SECURITY

The resignation of the Japasnese Internal Security en July 19,

was one of the most serious repercussions of the Hitomi murder,

+he Administration experienced extreme diffloulty in recruiting
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another forece and the change brought about in the attitude of
those Japanese who finally consented to serve altered the character
of the body a great deal. DBefore their resignation the Japanese
police had been called dogs; after the resignation the succeedin g
body was called timid, spineless, and cowardly and the men were
considered as all but useless by the residents. The mentlon of
their name would usually evoke a scornful, albeit somewhat tolerant,
smile.

The reasons for this mass resignation were well understood
by the residents, The Japanese police had been unpopular since
segregation., Some of the members had been arrogant and had used
their positions to threaten fellow residents with their power.,
They were also widely believed to connive at or even be in part-
nership with the gambling groups. 1t 1s very possible that they
were. The murder of Hitomi, the threat against kr. Shimokon
and possibly, the fear that they would be forced to co-operate
in the apprehension of the murderer and thereby incur wrath of

the mysterious but greatly feared underground group or groups

was too much for them., Moreover, public pressure against them

was tremendous., Mr, Abe explained their unpopularity as follows:

"The first trouble was that the camp residents suspected
them that they were spies of the Administration. That was the
main reason the police couldn't get the co-operation of the
residents. And also theri were the gambling groups who were
protected by the police,"

The resignation was announced to the people in an extra

issue of the Newell Star on July 20:

POLICE STAFF RuSIGNS: BeST ASKS FOR REORGANIZATION

Police Selection by Block Basis
The entire staff of the Colonial Police resigned in a body
Wednesday (July 19) at midnight, it was announced today. The
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reason was reported to be lack of cooperation received from the
center resldents.

froject Director Raymond R. Best immediately asked the resi-
dents 1n each block to select two representatives to serve their
own blocks on a new community police organization, Best sent a
memorandum to the Civic Organization and to block managers asking
block managers to call meetings to explain the reorganization o
the colonlal police.

"It 1s intended that each colony policeman to be selected
will have the primary responsibility of doing the police work
within the block from which he is selected or at least within
the ward in which he resides,™ Best stated in his memorandum,

"Those persons selected by the blocks will be accepted by
the Administration without question end will be assigned to the
colony police force. Thelr work orders will be processed throuwgh
the Flacement office and they will become employees paid by the
Administration at the regular classified wage rates,"

He requested that the names, addresses and identification
numbers of persons selected within each block be referred to the
Civic Urganizatlion office not later than 4 p.m, Monday (July 24).

Since the resignation of Chief Minekichi Shimokon and Assis-
ant Chief Lan Aoyama after the fatal stabbing of Yaozo Hitomi
on July 2, the staff of the Colonial Police had dwindled from
115 men to 72 at the time they resigned. Shimokon and Aoyama
resigned after anonymous threats were made against them, Other
members of the Colonlal Police were threatened and insulted al though
the Colonial Police has taken no part in the murder investigation,

"Every community has its own police staff to maintain Peace
and order," best stated. ™This community is now without its own
police due to the attitude of the residents and through no fault
of WRA. I hope the Colonial Police will soon again provide a
valuable service to the community,"

The mass resignation left the Administration in an untenable
position. The poclicing of the colony was quite impossible without
evacuee help. It was imperative that a new force be recruited
immediately. Accordingly, Mr. Schmidt and Mr. Holding addressed
the block managers and attempted to point out that the recruiting
of thls force was a responsibility of the block managers. This

attitude was greatly resented by the block managers, espp clally

Mr, Holding's statements:




"If there's a failure it's going to be your responsibility,
You've got to see that people in the block co-operate with the
Policement, For those blocks which supply no Policemen, no pro-
tection will be given,"

The full minutes of this block manager's meeting follow:
CHIEF SCHMIDT'S REPORT

Chief of Administrative Police, W. Schmidt, upon introduction
to the body by Mr. buycke, commented that the community of criminal
element is 1n lnverse as to the activities of the rolice; if you
have activities by the police officers, you have the tendency to
suppress the crime of the community. He then, by illustration,
gave some statistics relative to police work commensurate to the
crime committed in Tokyo in 1927-1929. He then talked at some
length appertaining to police work. He especially pointed out
that investigation work 1s performed purely from a professional
stand-point and the work 1s unquestionably not done by so-called
"Dogs" or "Stool Pigeons." 4approach to the police 1= purely
ethical and professional and certeinly not any inveiglement. He
went on to remark that gambling, prostitution, and other vices
are not so 'bad!' if it weren't for the things that come with it.
In a community, so unusual in 1ts atmosphere, broad concept
of the community should be considered and reflected upon as a
prerogative of a resident, especially in view of the many children
who are not matured enough to understand certain situations,

POLICE FORCE MISUNLERSTOOD

Mr. Shiral believed that undeniably a decent police force
is necessary, however, people have misunderstood the Police,
Desplte this fact, clarification of misunderstanding was neglected.
Lack of closer co-ordination may have been the cause, br., Schmidt
remarked.

REASON FOHK CHANGE IN TITIE OF WARIENS

Mr. Yamashlita questioned why the WRA changed the title of
Wardens to Colonial Police., MNr. Schmidt replied that the reason
for the change was to let the colonists know that this organization
was theirs, that thls force was for the people of the camp, and
also to meke the distinctlon between the Administrative Police
and the Colonial, Terminology of Internal Security 1is used by
virtue of fact that the Civil Service classifies the force as
such. The name Internal Security is more-or-less a hangover, At
the present time, there are 47 on the Administrative rolice staff.

RE PORT BY lR. HOLDING

Mr. Holding took the floor and in his talk he included
the following statements: Shot time ago when the Police Depart-
ment was functioning three men known as Commissioners were selec ted,
Their job was to help run the Police Department, but when the
Co-ordinating Commlttee dissolved, Commissioners dissolved at the




same time. This time we have a new ldea, instead of three Com-
missloners, we have 74 Police Commissioners. Each one of you are
going to be Commissioner, Feople in the block have selected tle
Policemen, it's going to be your Policemen, if it falls. If
there's fallure it's going to be your responsibility. You've

got to see that people in the block co-operate with the Yolicemen,
For those blocks which supply no Policemen, no protection will

be given. Now, we have 86 men who wlll work right in the block
from which they came from, Block without Policemen are: 35, 32,
DL a2l 2T 02, 045 D1l 49, 08, - 43, 80, 18, 18, 185 8, 850739,
2L, 20, 73, 69, 67, and 56. No telegram service or Sunday visiting
passes to the Hospltal will be given to those without police
representatives,

BLOCK WITHOUT POLICEMEN

Chief Schmidt reiterated that Colonlal Police service will
not be avallable for the issuance of passes and sending of tele-
grams for those bleocks without representatives, but there will
be other ways or meens® more complicated and delayed available,
According to Mr., Black, no written statement in regard to this
will be issued. Inavailability of Colonial Police service is an
instructlon issued from the Administration.

RLCTIFICATION OF STATEMeENT

Messrs. Ikeda and Takahashl immediately contended that Blec k
Managers were merely an instrument for channeling information and
announcements, and emphatically should not be responsible for the
failure of the Police Force., Mr. Schmidt rectified Mr. Holding's
statement. Block Managers are not Commissioners, but they are a
focal point in exchange of information from the p ople to the
Administration, vice versa,

PO R OF POLICE FORCE

Power of the Colonial and Administrative Police forces was
the next toplc of discussion., It was informed that the Colonial
Police wlll be responsible for the inside of the fence. Responsi-
billty of the Administrative Police is to merely advise the
Colonial Police, to give professional assistance. In your major
types of crime, which borders on felonious type of crime, the
Administrative Police renders aid, but there is certain delegated
power to certain groups, such as the District Attorney, who has
certain obligation in dealing with crimes of more major types,

In cases of murders, the administrative Police does not have the
power to trial; the District Attorney is to take care of it.,

The extreme resentment which this policy on the part
of the Caucaslan police aroused was shown by the fact that lir,

Oakmoto, a conservative block-manager of the mildest character,

denounced it. Okamoto bellieved in co-operating with the Adminis tra-

tion as much as possible, but on this occasion he lost his temper,




fle gave the writer the minutes, saylng with indignation:

“When lir, Holding of Internal Security said that those block
who didn't elect policemen would not get any telegrams delivered
or no Sunday passes to the hospltal, everybody got mad, That's
why some people trled to get him off the force., We feel they
are using the block managers as a weapon., If that's WRA's policy,
that's pretty serious.

"The reason we can get no organization is anyone taking such
a job 1s afrald of being called an inu. That's why most persons
don't want any jobs where they have to contact Caucasiang,

“In certain of the meetings, 1ike the Police, the Co-op
Board electlons and the Spanish Consul, we could get only about
S5 or 6 people to come out., That was not only in my block here
e¢lther. The block managers have a very hard time., That's why
SO many block managers are_quitting, They're having to take
too many orders from WRA,"

The block elections were held and about two thirds of the
blocks elected wardens. The followlng account appeared in the

Newell Star:

49 BLOCKS RESPONSE TO BEST'S NEW PATROL BODY PROPOSITION

Result of the electlon of patrolmen from each block was
released today by the Clvic Organization. The Civic reported
about two-thirds of the 74 blocks responded by electing representa-
tives. Hesldents were asked last week through the Civic Organiza-
tion by ¥roject Director Ray R. Best to elect this week two remxe-
sentatives from each block to serve in the new community police
organization, whlch supersedes the resigned Colonial Police.
+he breakdown revealed 33 blocks each chose two policemen, 13
blocks elected one each, and three blocks each elected three
members., many of the blocks electing one person expressed their
desire to select another one within a few days. It was also dis-
closed that 25 blocks failed to elect representatives. (However,
this report of 25 blocks failing to elect members is not to be
Judged as final., Some blocks have requested time for further
study and information. It is hoped that all remaining blocks
will carefully reconsider this plan which may help eliminate the
present anxiety and fear of disorder in this center.-- Ed, Note)

A meeting will be held this week by the newly formed police
body to elect an evacuee chlef and his assistants.

The success of the election of the police officers varied

through the camp. The Manzanar section filled every position.,

Ward VI and ward VII filled least. In spite of the threatened
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penalties, some Dblocks refused to electe wardens and remained
unpoliced for six months or more, Some of the reasons for
refusing to serve in this capacity was fully explalned by K:

"I don't think the Japanese want the name 'policeman.' The
Japanese don't want Japanese to rule over them, They say, 'We
are all behind the fenge, behind barbed wire, and we don't want
anybody to pick us up.

“What I heard 1s that some blocks are going to have watchmen
and that others are not golng to have anyone serve as police in
their block,

"The rumor that woever serves as police in the centers and
works as stooges - thelr records will be sent to Japan - that las
a great bearing with many.

"There is also a matter that has been confirmed by one of
the boys from the stockade, When he was released he asked why he
had been impounded. The policeman (Caucasian) told him that a
man in the block had written a letter saying that he was dangerous,
The boy asked to see the letter. 'The Caucasian said he cam 't have
it because the letter is golng to be sent to Japan with the man
who wrote 1t, All the records concerning him will be sent to
Japan, "gf thls 1strue that isthe most wonderful thing that coul d
happen, "~

What delighted K. about this matter was that he believe
that stern justice would be meted out in Japan to those men who
had acted as dogs against thelr own people in the camp.
‘he following descriptions of the block meetings were given:
Mr, Okamoto stated in a letter:

"Up to date the repuration of police is so grave that it
seems to me the colonists have no interest in the colonial police
affairs, 1t tells very clearly by past experiences and every
meetlng which we held has failed. None of them succeed. The
colonists held meetings regarding the election of the police
commissioners but unfortunately falled except for two or three
blocks., It appears to me that the colonial pglice department
feels they have no support by the colonists,"®

L

Mr, Abe, who lived in the Manzanar district where the election

was most successful, stated:
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"I think they'll get an Internal Security but it will take
tire. So far the police department has been looked upon as
administrative agents.

"Now we are trylng to get the police of this camp - our own
pollice. We elected two officers from each block in ward VIII.
We have 10 blocks and 20 police officers will be elected. Theat
way L think we can malntain a police force.

"Most of them hate to take the job but if they understand
the new system I think we can get police. Une man we elected
might take the Job and the others refused for personal reasons,

"At the Internal Security meeting - the people in this block
wanted me to go, 'whey wanted me to be police chief for the Man-
zanar section, wnaturally, I would never accept the position but
I went to the meeting just to get the tone. They were a bunch
of rabbits,

“Most people who wish to be policemen are not very well
educated. They didn't even know how to handle the meeting.
They didn't know procedure. But most of the people there were
well meaning and wished to organize a camp police force., But
the old group (men from the old force who were re-elected) agitated
among themselves and tried to get to be head of tl® police (=0
they could) co-operate with the gamblers, "2

"I went to the police organization meeting the other day.
Some of the men were so afraid even to be on a committee to make
negotiations with the Administration. They appcinted three com-
mittees to talk over the reorganizatlion of the police force with
Mr, Best. Even the men on these committees were afraid.

"The rumor about the old organization was that they were
subordinates of the Adminlstration to keep the peace of the camp,
They thought the police would have to be loyal to this country,

"The old group (resigned police) were men with stubborn hea ds,.

The new people (segregees) knew they couldn't co=-operate with them.
They want to keep to themselves. Bspeclally the people from

Manzaenar, Jerome and Rohwer that have just come in after February,
We have nothing to do with it (the old November 1943 troubles of
Tule Lake)."

An amusing result of the elections was recounted by a nisei
girl who remarked that her block had no police. “Two men were
elected but one man's wife kept after him until he resigned.

then the other resigned because he didn't want to be the only

policeman in the block,™"*

ibid., July 24, 1944, p. 3. "Personal reasons" is the most frequent
excuse used by a Japanese who wished to avoid taking a position

which would lead him to be called a dog.
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It should be stressed here, that the underground pressure
group did all in its power to spread propaganda to inhibit the
election of thse police.l However, general pressure was so strong
that their efforts were scarcely needed. Considering the amount
of pressure 1t 1s remarkable that the police force was restaffed
at all. This pressure continued to cow the police force for more
than seven months (and will probably continue for much longer).
The "wardens" as they were henceforth called, came to be known
as a specles of Casmr Milquetoasts, Whenever any infringement
of law incurred which might remotely be connected with "politics"
or might conceivably offend the residents if action were taken,
the wardens refused to act, They would call up the Caucasian
police and say, "You better take this, It's too hot for us."

On August 8, when wardens had been obtd ned for most of the
blocks, Mr. Okamoto sald:

"Finally they changed the name of the police to wardens, I
believe that the main cause of the resignation was that the police
say, 'The colonists don't support the colony police.! Their bad
reputation, I think, was due to their lacking cam ble personnsl,
oome reported very little detaill of anything that happened in
the blocks. It used to be that the Japanese police didn't report
every little thing to the Caucasians and then things would settle
down,

Okamoto means here that it is far better to allow minor
matters to settle themselves and not drag the Caucasians in on
every occasion.

“They sald the name of 'police' was too official.

"Our block failed the first time. Farticularly the issei
were against 1t because they heard the rumor of sending records
to Japan. Also the Internal Security used to wear s badge of
the regular United States police. It said United States police

on the badge. Most of the people were afraid (to connect them-
selves so obviously with the U, S. government).
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"The 0ld police were always looking for something to report.,
got a very bad reputation. That i1s not police officers! That
ilsturbs the public orderi'l

The following rather conciliatory statement was printed in
the Newell Star on August 10, The last four paragraphs in parti-
cular are noteworthy:

Patrolmen
REORGANIZED FORCE ASKS RESILE NTS! COOPERATION

A complete reorganization of the center police set-up with
many fundamental changesin policy was announced this week by the
Colonial Peace Office.

In a statement addressed to all residents of the center,
the new peace officers asked for guldance and whole-hearted co-
Operation in maintaining peace and order and promised to expend
thelr every effort in making thls a peaceful and liveable community,

Discussed at the several general meetings of the newly elected
peace officers were weaknesses and defects of the former police
force and it was resolved that in order to create a police force
operating for and by the people of the community, it was necessary
first to dissolve the previous suspicions and opposition surrowm ding
the o0ld Colonial Police force.

In 1line with this, a request was submitted to the project
director asking the Administration to inform the Colonial Peace
Jffice of the reasons for arrest whenever residents are aprrehended
in the future by either the Internsal Security officers or by the
FBI. This request was taken under consideration.

At the same time, the director suggested that the members
of the force consist mainly of repatriates, preferably older issei
and nisei because of the possibility of future friction if non-
repatriates dominated the peace forece and further that all execu-
tive officers be persons not connected with the old forece. These
suggestions were taken under consideration,

It was also emphasized that problems arising between the
Administration and the residents did not come within the jurisd c-
tion of the peace force.

Officers of the Department of Colonlal Peace may be removed
by majority vote of the blocks.

THL RAPE RUMORS

Coincident with the resignation of the colonial police, the

camp fell victim to one of the most bizarre rumors of its history.
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For ten days story after story of rape, perpetrated by one indivi-
lual or a gang of boys, swept through the camp. Opler said this
rumor might possibly have been started by lr, Yamatani, the Police
Commlissioner who fled the camp after Mr, Hitomi's rmurder and is

reported to have sald as he left, "When my boys leave the colony,

there will be rape."l However the rumors may have origlinated,

they were taken very seriously by most of the pe ople in camp.

For about a week the girls and young women imposed a curfew on
themselves and a woman was seldom seen outside of a barrack after
dark, Girls who attended the Japanese night school were escorted
home by a group of the young men students, Typical versions of
the rape rumors follow:

From Mr, Yamaguchis

"They say a girl was attacked in block 69. She ran avay sSarean-
ing. Yhe girls can't go to school (Japanese night school). Now

the boys are getting together and they all leave school together.

"Some people say that the administration is spreading the
rumors to frighten the people so they will guick make another
Internal Security. vther people are fighting for it (for Internal
Security). So there are two groups fighting; one wants an Inter-
nal Security and the others say we can take care of it ourselves.

“It's a fact that some people are scared. Especially all
the girls. Ward III quit night school. Even the movies have
gqult.

"Feople would like an Internal Security, but nobody wants
to run, They don't want to be inu. I think the trying to get
a new Internal Security will fall to the ground, "2

A nlsel girl said:

"I think it's mostly rumor on the part of Internal Security,
+hey have to make it sound bad so that we'd demand to have Internal
vecurity back. It sounds so wild and fantastic. Most of it -
like covering a girl wlith blankets and throwing her in a diteh.

i think that's rumor. ‘

"But in ward VII a girl is supposed to have been attacked
by some of the boys., Some of the boys in camp are bad.
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"According to the man next door there i1s a bad bunch of boys
in camp. One of the boys has been outcast from his family for
things that he has done. He was so good for nothing."l

Mrs. Yamaguchl said:

"There is still a lot of talk, Some boy chased a girl in
block 629, The bhoy had a blanket over his head. My girl friend
who lives only with her mother and sister has been annoyed by
naving boys knogk on her door at night and shine flashlights
in the window,"”

The practical Mr, Abe, an elderly issel was the only indivi-
dual the writer contacted who doubted the rumors strongly:

"The bothering of girls is just rumors, I think, Of course
there 1s a high possibility that such a crime could be committed
when living this abnormal life, &bHut a friend of mine tried
checking up the rumors. There is no way to prove it that there
was any such crime. I think that's a rumor made Py the adminis-
tration to make people form a police department."w

A very intelligent young nisei admitted that there might be
some truth to the rumors. Pointing out that the young men in
camp far outnumbered the girls, he suggested:

"There 1s only one thing that could be done to control this.
That 1s establish a house of prostitution, If I were the adminils-
tration I would permlt the operation of a licensed house where
the girls could be given regular medical inspection. That would
be the only solution,"4

After a short perlod of extreme concern, the rape rumors
died down very rapidly. Long before the Internal Securlty was

securely established they were heard no more.

ARRESTS FOR DRAFT VIOLATION

In mid-July 27 nisel were arrested, charged with failing to

report for their pre-induction physical examination. They were
taken to Eureka to await trial., The following announcement was

made in the Newell Star:
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27 TAKEN TO EUREKA ON DRAFT VIOLATING CHARGES

Arrested on federal warrants charging them with violating
the Selective Service Act, 27 nisei were removed to Bureka,
California this week, reported the Administration, The 27 Jape
nese failed to report for pre-induction physical examination
for the Army when examinations were held May 2 and 3 at the com-
munity hospital.

Deputy Marshal Weslick Erich of the United States Marshel's
office at Sacramento assisted by three other dﬁputv narshals
gserved the warrants Friday. A1l 27 will be tried in the federal
district court at Eureka.

This arrest was received in the colony with the greatest
calm. The general concensus of opinlon was that the boys who
had said No-No or repatriated before the proper date would be
reaturned. For those boys who might have sald Yes-Yes, there was
no pity. They ought to go to jall. Why the residents had such
implicit feith that justice would be meted out in this case when
ordinarily the activities of the courts of the United States are

regarded with the great susplcilon, the writer is unable to under -

stand.
Miss Doi, an intelligent young nisel with status-quo leanings

stated:

"I haven't heard much about that. They all exm ct them to
come back. Feople who arg repatriates say, 'After the trial
they'll all be back soon,' (About) the Yes-Yes - people just
don't give a hang about them anyway." "l

Mr,., Yamaguchi said:

"he people are doing nothing. Everybody is willing to go
(to jail) if it comes to that. The Japanese don't think anything
about it. Those 27 boys had a 1ot of sympathy though, I wouldn't
change (for fear of going to Jail) e

K, stated:
"There was no reaction, None whatever. Wediscussed the

things but the general feeling 1s that 1f thej do not wish to be
loyal they snould not have sald Yes-Yes., 1t was no more than
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